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This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes "forwaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pev@gcurities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These forwe-looking statements relate to expectations conogrmatters that are not historical facts, and aemgrally
identified by words such as "believe", "expecthtiaipate”, "estimate”, "intend”, "strategy"”, "may'will likely" and similar words or phrases.
A forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor aantee of future events or circumstances, andaatual results could differ
materially and adversely from those expressed jnfarward-looking statement. These forward-lookstatements are all based on currently
available market, operating, financial and compes&tinformation and assumptions and are subjeetarious risks and uncertainties that are
difficult to predict. Important information regamij factors that could cause actual results to diff@terially from such expectations is
disclosed in this Report, including, without lintitan, information under the captionRisk Factors". These risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to continuing development, quadifion and volume production of NVvault™ and Hypew@™; the rapidly-changing nature
of technology; risks associated with intellectusdgeerty, including the costs and unpredictabilifiigation over infringement of our property
and the possibility of our patents being reexamibgdhe United States ("U.S.")Patent and Tradeng@ffice ("USPTO"); volatility in the
pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND; changes in and unaiettty of customer acceptance of, and demand foregisting products and produc
under development, including uncertainty of andfelays in product orders and product qualificatipdslays in our and our customers'
product releases and development; introductionsesf products by competitors; changes in-user demand for technology solutions; our
ability to attract and retain skilled personnel;roeliance on suppliers of critical components arhdors in the supply chain; fluctuations in
the market price of critical components; evolvindustry standards; and the political and regulateryvironment in the People's Republic of
China ("PRC"). Except as required by law, we doudertake any obligation to revise or update amyhrd-looking statements for any
reason.

PART |
ltem 1. Business
Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high-peréorce, intelligent memory subsystems for datacessterer and high-performance computing
and communications markets. Our memory subsystemsist of combinations of dynamic random access ongintegrated circuits ("DRAM
ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash memory ("NAND"), appliation-specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") andhet components assembled on
printed circuit boards ("PCBs"). We primarily matlkend sell our products to leading original equiptmeanufacturer ("OEM") customers. C
solutions are targeted at applications where merlays a key role in meeting system performanceirements. We leverage a portfolio of
proprietary technologies and design techniquedydirg efficient planar design, alternative packagiechniques and custom semiconductor
logic, to deliver memory subsystems with high meymensity, small form factor, high signal integriattractive thermal characteristics and
low cost per bit.

We were incorporated in Delaware in Jun@02&nd commenced operations in September 2000.
Recent Developments

In November 2009, we introduced HyperClouB™R3 memory technology. HyperCloud™ utilizes anl@$hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthcreases memory capacity and load reductiontimmality that increases mema
bandwidth. We expect that this technology will malossible improved levels of performance for memintgnsive datacenter applications and
workloads, including enterprise virtualization, etbcomputing infrastructure, business intelligeread-time data analytics, and high
performance computing. HyperCloud™ memory is bengluated by several of our OEM customers for ngbeir server products.
HyperCloud™ is
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interoperable with Joint Electronics Devices Engiiregg Council ("JEDEC") standard DDR3 memory moduleur HyperCloud™ products
designed to allow for installation in servers withthe need for a BIOS change. As such, their goatied sales launch is not dependent on the
design plans or product cycle of our OEM customidmsyvever, we have experienced a longer qualificatigcle than anticipated. As of
January 1, 2011, we have not shipped any produgtiantities of HyperCloud ™.

In February 2010, we announced generalabibify of NVvault™ battery-free, a non-volatil@eche memory subsystem targeting
Redundant Array of Independent Disks, ("RAID") sige applications. NVvault™ battery-free providesveeand storage OEMs a solution for
enhanced datacenter fault recovery. Unlike ouriticathl battery-powered fault tolerant cache prddumbich relied solely on batteries to power
the cache, NVvault™ battery-free utilizes a comboraof DRAM for high throughput performance andsh for extended data retention. The
introduction of NVvault™ battery-free, as well &gtaunch of the current version of the batteoyvered module in connection with Dell, Ini
("Dell") introduction of the PERC 7 line of servérsDecember 2009, has resulted in RAID contradlgosystem revenues of $20.2 million, or
54% of total revenues for 2010, including $4.8 imillof NVvault™. This compares favorably with $7llion in RAID controller subsystem
revenues, or 40% of total revenues for 2009. Alghorevenues in 2010 have been primarily for shigsiemDell, in the fourth quarter of 2010
we qualified NVvault™ battery-free with other OEM&e also intend to pursue end-user opportunities.

The remainder of our revenues arose prlyntdim OEM sales of custom memory modules, thearityj of which were utilized in data
center and industrial applications. When develogingtom modules for an equipment product launchemgage with our OEM customers
from the earliest stages of new product definitjproyviding us unique insight into their full rangesystem architecture and performance
requirements. This close collaboration has alsmonedt us to develop a significant level of systemseetise. We leverage a portfolio of
proprietary technologies and design techniquedydig efficient planar design, alternative packagiechniques and custom semiconductor
logic, to deliver memory subsystems with high speaghacity and signal integrity, small form factattractive thermal characteristics and low
cost per bit. Revenues from custom modules haveoweg as a result of OEM product placements onplatforms and improved economic
conditions compared with 2009. The continuatiothdd trend, which cannot be assured, is dependentioability to qualify our memory
modules on new platforms as current platforms reélaelend of their life cycles, and on the statthefglobal economy.

Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary techigés and design techniques and have assembledyareering team with expertise in
semiconductors, printed circuit boards, memory gsiiesn and system design. Our technology competenuitude:

IC Design Expertise. We have designed blocks of custom logic thatlmimplemented in stand-alone integrated cirariistegrated
with other functional blocks in ASICs. We use theastom logic blocks in the HyperCloud™ chipseinimorporate rank multiplication and
load reduction functionality onto standard registedual in-line memory modules "RDIMMs". We alsednporate custom logic in our
NVvault™ product line

Very Low Profile Designs. We were the first company to create memory ystems in a form factor of less than one inch iiglite We
believe our proprietary board design technologyaigicularly useful in the blade server market, rehefficient use of motherboard space is
critical. Our technology has allowed us to decraheesystem board space required for memory, apdowe thermal performance and
operating speeds, by enabling our customers taltesmative methods of component layout.
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Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced, proprietary techniquesgtimize electronic signal strength and integrityhim a PCB.
These technigues include the use of 8- or 10-lagards, matching conductive trace lengths, a mzgchnumber of conductive connectors, or
vias, and precise load balancing to, among othegsh help reduce noise and crosstalk between exfjaiaces. In addition, our proprietary
designs for the precise placement of intra-sulestamponents allow us to assemble memory subsystémsignificantly smaller physical
size, enabling OEMs to develop products with sméddietprints for their customers.

Planar Design. Our planar solutions are designed to provigd lhiensity solutions in a more cost-effective marhan traditional chip-
stacking. We believe traditional chip-stacking cepresent a significant portion of the total cdsha memory subsystem. Our planar solutions
achieve the same densities as chip-stacked modute so by leveraging our PCB design expertigddoe integrated circuits in two rows in
the same plane rather than on top of each otherp@nar memory subsystem designs feature high meoapacity with improved thermal
characteristics by dissipating heat uniformly ttgioout the PCB.

Advanced Planar Designs.We plan to extend our planar design capalslitiedevelop very high density memory subsysterses&
advanced planar designs may allow us to build merdsdlutions at lower costs compared to other pgingatechnologies. Additionally, these
advanced planar solutions may remove heat genebgtatemory components in a more effective manndrcam be used to build memory
subsystems in a number of densities and form factor

Thermal Management DesignsWe design our memory subsystems to ensuretiefidreat dissipation. We use thermal cameras to
obtain thermal profiles of the memory subsystenirduthe design phase, allowing us to rearrange compts to enhance thermal
characteristics and, if necessary, replace compstieat do not meet specifications. We use thesinallation and modeling software to create
comprehensive heat transfer models of our memdrgyatems, which enables our engineers to quicklglde accurate solutions for potential
thermal issues. We also develop and use propribeay spreaders to enhance the thermal managehsatteristics of our memory
subsystems.

Customers

We primarily market and sell our productdgading OEMs in the server, storage and commtiaitmmarkets. Consistent with the
concentrated nature of the OEM customer base itaoget markets, a small number of large custorinave historically accounted for a
significant portion of our net sales. Dell and Fétiorks, Inc. ("F5 Networks") represented approxahe59% and 19%, respectively, of our
net sales in 2010. Dell and DRS Electronics, INRRS Electronics") represented approximately 53% HB0%o, respectively, of our net sales in
2009. Net sales to some of our OEM customers ircladmory modules that are qualified by us direeith the OEM customer and sold to
electronic manufacturing services providers ("EM ST incorporation into products manufacturedlegively for the OEM customer or, in
some instances, to facilitate credit and logisfldtese net sales to EMSs have historically fluetdigteriod to period as a portion of the total net
sales to the OEM customers. Net sales to Hon Haiiglon Industry Co. Ltd., an EMS operating unéhertrade name of Foxconn that
purchases memory modules from us for incorpordtitmproducts manufactured exclusively for Delpnesented approximately 96% and 7
of net sales to Dell for 2010 and 2009, respectiv&irow Electronics Inc. ("Arrow") is an EMS forRS Electronics. Substantially all of our
products used by DRS Electronics are sold to Afiamwncorporation in subassembly products. Simylasubstantially all of the products sold
to F5 Networks were sold through Flextronics In&ional Ltd. For further information regarding @ales to our OEM customer base, please
refer to Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated FinanSiatements included in Part IV, Item 15 of thip&.
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We expect that our key customers will coudi to account for a substantial portion of oursads in 2011 and in the foreseeable future.
The composition of major customers and their rehpecontributions to our net sales have varied ailidikely continue to vary from period
to period. Our sales are made primarily pursuastaadard purchase orders that may be rescheduledatively short notice. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess inventonibssh contain no right-of-return privileges.
Estimated returns are provided for at the timeaté ased on historical experience or specifictifieation of an event necessitating a reserve.
While these returns have historically been withiin expectations and the provisions established;amaot guarantee that we will continue to
experience similar return rates in the future. Aignificant increase in product failure rates amelriesulting product returns could have a
material adverse effect on our operating resultshfe period or periods in which such returns maliee.

We offer warranties on our memory subsystgemerally ranging from one to three years, deipgnazh the product and negotiated terms
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctantés require us to repair or replace defectioglpct returned to us during such warre
period at no cost to the customer. Our estimatewéoranty related costs are recorded at the tihsale based on historical and estimated
future product return rates and expected repaieacement costs. While such costs have histbribakn within our expectations and the
provisions established, unexpected changes inréailtes could have a material adverse impact preqgeiring additional warranty reserves,
and adversely affecting our gross profit and groasgins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products througlrectisales force and a network of independenssalgresentatives. Our sales activities focus
primarily on developing strong relationships at téehnical, marketing and executive managementdevighin market-leading
OEMs. Additionally, our marketing strategy for ddyperCloud™ includes the creation of demand throeigth-user evaluation and
demonstration activities in vertical computing netek Our OEM customers design systems for a vapiedypplications that require a
significant number of high performance memory sgbays, representing substantial opportunities $oMe have been successful in
developing OEM relationships through our abilityptmvide high performance memory subsystems. Qectsales group and field application
engineers work closely with our OEM customers agarty stage of their design cycles to solve tdeBign challenges and to design our
products into their systems.

We believe in the timely communication axd@hange of information with our customers. Weizgilvell-trained, highly technical
program management teams to successfully drivepmeduct development and quickly respond to ourausts' needs and expectations. Our
program management teams provide quick respongs timd act as a single point-of-contact for roussaes during the sales process.
Additionally, they address the long-term business technology goals of our customers. We empl@aatapproach to business development
whereby our sales team and independent represesgtédientify, qualify and prioritize customer presgs through offices in a number of
locations worldwide. For additional information eeding our net sales from external customers bygghic area, refer to Note 13 of Note!
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Rgrtem 15 of this Report.

Manufacturing

We manufacture substantially all of ourdurats at our facilities in Suzhou in the PRC. Cdwamced engineering and design capabilities,
combined with our in-house manufacturing procesaiésy us to assemble our memory subsystems rgledd in high volume. Our advanced,
customized manufacturing facilities are capablsusface mount assembly, subsystem testing, systeehthurn-in testing, programming,
marking, labeling and packaging. At each stagé&efproduction cycle, including product prototypiagalification sample production and
high-volume manufacturing and delivery, we
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focus on providing our customers with rapid resjgoaisd short manufacturing turn-around times. Maetufing cycle times for our products
are typically one week or less, and in some casésvaas two days, from receipt of order.

We acquire components and materials sué&{tdSs, DRAM ICs and NAND directly from integratedcuit manufacturers and assemble
them into finished subsystems. We believe thatadrair key strengths is the efficient procuremant emanagement of components for our
subsystems, which benefits our customers in tha fufrlower costs and increased product availabilte have a limited number of suppliers,
including Samsung Electronics, Hynix Semiconduetad Micron Semiconductor, each of which compriseentban 10% of our total
purchases. We have developed strong supplieraeidtips with these and other key DRAM IC and NANBnufacturers, which we believe
gives us direct and ready access to the criticapaments that we need for our production activitie typically qualify our products with our
customers using multiple manufacturers of DRAM &gl NAND. The flexibility to choose from several BR IC and NAND providers
allows us to minimize product cost and maximizedpiet availability. Our HyperCloud™ RDIMM containg &ASIC chipset component. We
intend to procure these ASICs from multiple integdeacircuit vendors that are in varying stageshipset development.

We schedule production based on purchater aommitments and anticipated orders. We releagenaterials to the manufacturing floor
by means of an on-line shop floor control systemictv allows for internal quality analysis, directcass to inventory information and
production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to ngamanforecasted demand. In additior
order to mitigate inventory risks, we have the tdlig to sell excess quantities of certain compariaventories of DRAM ICs and NAND to
distributors and other users of memory integratemlits. However, the ASIC and DRAM components usedur HyperCloud™ product have
limited alternative uses. As such, we may not be tbsell excess quantities of the componentgjlshwee fail to obtain qualification with
major OEMSs. Our sales of excess inventory genetatsdthan 1% of our net sales in 2010 and appteiin 4% of our net sales in 2009.

Our quality assurance engineers work withsuppliers to ensure that the raw materials weive meet our high quality standards. These
engineers also perform onsite supplier factory auatid use our internal test and inspection systemsrify that purchased components and
materials meet our specifications. Our suppliediguprogram and incoming material quality contpsbgram are important aspects of our
overall manufacturing process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing oaranemory subsystems and share the results ofasting with our customers. We believe that
this improves the system design process and afiomtbe elimination of potential problems at theliest possible stage. In addition, we have
implemented procedures which require that all afrmemory subsystems undergo functional and system-in testing prior to delivery to the
customer. We complement our test capabilities aithianced imaging technology to inspect the qualfityur assemblies.

We are certified in ISO 9001:2000 Qualitamhgement Systems, ISO 14001:2004 EnvironmentablyjiEanent Standards, and OSHAS
18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Manage®gstems.

Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for seever, high performance computing and commuminatmarkets. These markets are intensely
competitive, as numerous companies vie for busioppsrtunities at a limited number of large OEMsIr @rimary competitors are memory
module providers such as STEC, SMART Modular Tetdgies, Inc., and Viking Interworks, a division 8anmina-SCI Corporation. We face
competition from DRAM suppliers, including HynixaBisung and Micron for many of our products, inahgdHyperCloud™. We also face
potential direct or indirect
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competition from logic suppliers such as Inphi #Dd@. As we enter new markets and pursue additiapalications for our products, we may
face competition from a larger number of competititiat produce solutions utilizing similar or corntipg technologies.

Certain of our competitors have substagtigdeater financial, technical, marketing, distilon and other resources, broader product lines,
lower cost structures, greater brand recognitiahlanger standing relationships with customers sugpliers. Some of our competitors may
also have a greater ability to influence industandards than we do, as well as more extensivepptetfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers mag pavprietary products or technologies that arepmtditive with our products, or could
develop internal solutions or enter into strategiationships with, or acquire, existing high-dépshemory module providers. Any of these
actions could reduce our customers' demand foprmducts. Some of our significant suppliers of mgmintegrated circuits may be able to
manufacture competitive products at lower costielgraging internal efficiencies, or could choaseetduce our supply of memory integrated
circuits, adversely affecting our ability to manttizre our memory subsystems on a timely basis,dfla

Our ability to compete in our current targerkets and in future markets will depend in éapgrt on our ability to successfully develop,
introduce and sell new and enhanced products nedytand cost-effective basis, and to respondhanging market requirements. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in the sgtatof high performance memory subsystems by pialecustomers are:

. understanding of OEM system and business requiresy
. timeliness of new value-add product introductions;
. design characteristics and performance;

. quality and reliability;

. track record of volume deliver

. credibility with the customer;

. fulfillment capability and flexibility; anc
. price.

We believe that we compete favorably wébpect to these factors. However, our current attd competitors could develop competing
products that could cause a decline in sales srdbsarket acceptance of our products.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory gatesns is constantly changing and therefore coatindevelopment of new technology,
processes and product innovation is mandatory subeessful as a leading supplier. We believethieatontinued and timely development of
new products and improvement of existing produngscatical to maintaining our competitive positidbur team of engineers focuses on
developing custom semiconductor logic devices anduxts with innovative thermal solutions, packagsolutions and improved electrical
signal integrity that enhances reliability over tifie of the system and achieves higher speeddamels power consumption. Also, our
engineers incorporate various new techniques arladelogies for testing as well as new processesmufacturing our products.

Our engineering staff closely engages withOEM partners and their engineering teams & stages in their system development. This
collaboration allows our engineers to understaedctistomer's system architecture, power budgetatipg environment such as air flow and
operating temperature and any mechanical constrantr engineers use this information to providiglgice and solutions to implement
optimum memory subsystems to our OEM partners.myoirtant aspect of our research and developmemnt éfto understand the challenges
faced by our OEM partners and provide cost effecsiolutions that satisfy their requirements byizitiy our industry knowledge, proprietary
technologies and technical expertise.
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We use advanced design tools in developwofentr products that allow us to model behavioaaignal trace on our memory modules as
well as airflow and thermal profiles of all compaitein the system. These design tools enable imalgimulation for signal integrity and
behavioral modeling of our designs using the Ifputput Buffer Information Specification ("IBIS") afur suppliers’ components. These
simulation tools help us reduce or eliminate etattr signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitéerd noise which can reduce system
performance and reliability. Also, our engineers tieermal simulation tools to identify potentiaétmal problems arising from inadequate
airflow necessary to cool the components in théesysThese efforts allow our engineers to devefamam thermal solutions for our
customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive westrzontinue to focus on developing advanced mensmtynologies. We have invested
significant resources in the design of custom sendactor logic devices. These logic devices aregirdted into our next-generation memory
subsystems in order to improve their performance example, our HyperCloud™ logic devices enable@RAM-based subsystems to
achieve higher speeds and address greater menpayigaat a lower price point than currently avialdaproducts in the market. Logic devices
in our NVvault™ battery-free product enable DRAMlIdtash memory to be efficiently combined for themoses of backing up data storage.
The development of these semiconductor devicearammportant part of our overall effort to maintairstrong competitive position in our
industry based on advanced memory technology.

Our customers typically do not separatelnpensate us for design and engineering work irebim developing application-specific
products for them. Our total expenditures for redeand development were approximately $14.8 nnildad $8.1 million for 2010 and 2009,
respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our high performance memory subsystemsleveloped in part using our proprietary intelleCpuaperty, and we believe that the strer
of our intellectual property rights will be impontato the success of our business. We utilize pated trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@dénvention assignment agreements with emplogedsonsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property ander proprietary information.

As of January 1, 2011, we had 17 patestseid and 24 patent applications pending. Assurhiaigthey are properly maintained, our
patents will expire at various dates between 202R2027. Our issued patents and patent applicateate to the use of custom logic in high
performance memory subsystems, PCB design, laymlpackaging techniques. We intend to actively gaitke filing of additional patent
applications related to our technology advancemé&iitsle we believe that our patent and other ietetllal property rights are important to our
success, our technical expertise and ability taméice new products in a timely manner also wilitooie to be important factors in developing
and maintaining our competitive position. Accordingve believe that our business is not materidépendent upon any one claim in any of
our existing patents or pending patent applications

Despite our precautions, a third party meserse engineer, copy or otherwise obtain ansdus@roducts, services or technology without
authorization, develop similar technology indeperityeor design around any patents issued to ustelten be no assurance that our efforts
taken to prevent misappropriation or infringemefindur intellectual property by third parties haweeh or will be successful.

Employees

At January 1, 2011, we had approximatel® @®ployees (including 131 regular employees aridt@porary employees).
Approximately 74 of the regular employees were edan the U.S., and approximately 57 were locéteather countries (mainly in the PRC).
We had 137 employees in
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operations, 34 employees in research and develdp2@employees in sales and marketing, and 11@rapt engaged in other administrative
functions. We are not party to any collective bargey agreements with any of our employees. We mexer experienced a work stoppage,
and we believe our employee relations are good.

General Information

We maintain a websitewatvw.netlist.confthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an ineettextual reference only and is not intended
to incorporate our website into this Form 10-K). Y@ reports with the Securities and Exchange Cassion ("SEC"), and make available,
free of charge, on or through our website, our ahreports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on F&@nQ, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy
and information statements and amendments to ttepsets filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange ,
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as seaaasonably practicable after we electronicaleydiich material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. Our website also contains copies of our capagovernance policy, code of business conducethids, insider trading policy and
whistleblower policy, as well as copies of the ¢hiar for our audit committee, compensation commigied nominating and corporate
governance committee.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider each of the following fact@svell as the other information in this Report irmkiating our business and our
prospects. The risks described below are not tig @mes we face. Additional risks we are not pridgeaware of or that we currently belie
are immaterial may also impair our business opemnagi. The trading price of our common stock couldide due to any of these risks, and you
could lose all or part of your investment. In asseg these risks, you should also refer to therdtifermation contained or incorporated by
reference in this Report, including our consolighfmancial statements and related notes.

Risks related to our business

We expect a number of factors to cause our opergtiesults to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual ®ia, which may make it difficult to
predict our future performance

Our operating results have varied signiftbain the past and will continue to fluctuaterfr@uarter-to-quarter or year-to-year in the future
due to a variety of factors, many of which are m&/our control. Factors relating to our business thay contribute to these quarterly and
annual fluctuations include the following factoas, well as other factors described elsewhere énRbport:

. our inability to develop new or enhanced produlcég aichieve customer or market acceptance in dtimanner, including our
HyperCloud™ memory module and our flash-based mgmparducts;

. our failure to maintain the qualification of ouroglucts with our current customers or to qualifyrent and future products wi
our current or prospective customers in a timelyingg or at all;

. the timing of actual or anticipated introductioicompeting products or technologies by us or amgetitors, customers or
suppliers;

. the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesatéey customer;

. the cyclical nature of the industry in which we oaie;

. a reduction in the demand for our high performameenory subsystems or the systems into which theynaorporated
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. our customers' failure to pay us on a timely basis;

. costs, inefficiencies and supply risks associatid @utsourcing portions of the design and the nfaeture of integrated circui
. our ability to absorb manufacturing overhead if ;muenues decline or vary from our projections;

. delays in fulfilling orders for our products orailtire to fulfill orders;

. our ability to procure an adequate supply of kemponents, particularly DRAM ICs and NANI

. dependence on large suppliers who are also compseind whose manufacturing priorities may not suppur production
schedules;
. changes in the prices of our products or in theé abthe materials that we use to build our produictcluding fluctuations in th

market price of DRAM ICs and NAND;

. our ability to effectively operate our manufactygritacility in the PRC;

. manufacturing inefficiencies associated with ttagt-up of new manufacturing operations, new productsiaitiation of volume
production;

. our failure to produce products that meet the tpadiquirements of our customers;

. disputes regarding intellectual property rights #relpossibility of our patents being reexaminedhgyUSPTO

. the costs and management attention diversion agedolvith litigation;

. the loss of any of our key personnel;

. changes in regulatory policies or accounting pples;

. our ability to adequately manage or finance integnawth or growth through acquisitions; a
. the effect of our investments and financing arramgiets on our liquidity.

Due to the various factors mentioned abawneé, others, the results of any prior quarterlgromual periods should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future operating performanceofre or more future periods, our results of openatimay fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that evaetptarket price of our common stock would likelgldee. In addition, the market price of our
common stock may fluctuate or decline regardlessuofoperating performance.

We have historically incurred losses and may coniinto incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 2088 have only experienced one fiscal year (2008) profitable results. In order to regain
profitability, or to achieve and sustain positivash flows from operations in the future, we musthier reduce operating expenses and/or
increase our revenues. Although we have in thegragiged in a series of cost reduction actionspatidve that we could reduce our current
level of expenses through elimination or reductibstrategic initiatives, such expense reductidneemay not make us profitable or allow us
to sustain profitability if it is achieved. Our &ty to achieve profitability will depend on incread revenue growth from, among other things,
increased demand for our memory subsystems anededaoduct offerings, as well as our ability tgpamrd into new and emerging markets.
may not be successful in achieving the necessagntee growth or the expected expense reductionsedwer, we may be unable to sustain
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past or expected future expense reductions in gulesé periods. We may not achieve profitabilitysostain such profitability, if achieved, ol
quarterly or annual basis in the future.

Any failure to achieve profitability coutdsult in increased capital requirements and pressu our liquidity position. We believe our
future capital requirements will depend on manydes; including our levels of net sales, the timargl extent of expenditures to support sales,
marketing, research and development activitiesegpansion of manufacturing capacity both domelyyiead internationally and the contint
market acceptance of our products. Our capitaliremuents could result in our having to, or otheeandhioosing to, seek additional funding
through public or private equity offerings or débancings. However, many companies are experigndifficulty in achieving access to
capital in these challenging times. Such funding mat be available on terms acceptable to us, all,atither of which could result in our
inability to meet certain of our financial obligatis and other related commitments.

We are subject to risks relating to product concextion and lack of market diversification.

We have historically derived a substarg@tion of our net sales from sales of our highlfgrenance memory subsystems for use in the
server market. We expect these memory subsysteomtmue to account for a significant portion af met sales in the near term. Continued
market acceptance of these products for use ireseiw critical to our success.

In an attempt to set our products aparhftbose of our competitors, we have invested afgignt portion of our research and
development budget into the design of ASIC devisash as the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem, intredlirc November 2009. This new
design and the products they are incorporatedargsubject to increased risks as compared toxistirgy products. For example:

. we may be unable to achieve customer or markepéaeee of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or atker products, ¢
achieve such acceptance in a timely manner;

. the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or other new mtsdmay contain currently undiscovered flaws, theection of which
would result in increased costs and time to market;

. we are dependent on a limited number of supplarddth the DRAM ICs and the ASIC devices thatesgential to th
functionality of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystemg could experience supply chain disruption asalt of business issu
that are specific to our suppliers or the induasya whole; and

. we will be required to demonstrate the quality egldhbility of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystenotiter new products 1
our customers, and will be required to qualify thasw products with our customers, both of which reguire a significant
investment of time and resources prior to the padi any revenue from such customers.

Any failure or delay in placing or qualif new products with our customers would likelyutes reductions in our net sales and would
adversely impact our results of operations.

Additionally, if the demand for serverset@rates or if the demand for our products torfm®iporated in servers declines, our operating
results would be adversely affected, and we woelébbced to diversify our product portfolio and darget markets. We may not be able to
achieve this diversification, and our inabilitydo so may adversely affect our business.

We may lose our competitive position if we are uteato timely and cost-effectively develop new ohanced products that meet our
customers' requirements and achieve market acceptan

Our industry is characterized by intensmpetition, rapid technological change, evolvingustly standards and rapid product
obsolescence. Evolving industry standards and tdobital change or
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new, competitive technologies could render ourtexdsproducts obsolete. Accordingly, our abilitydompete in the future will depend in large
part on our ability to identify and develop newemhanced products on a timely and cost-effectigsband to respond to changing customer
requirements. In order to develop and introduce oeenhanced products, we need to:

. identify and adjust to the changing requirementswfcurrent and potential custome

. identify and adapt to emerging technological treadd evolving industry standards in our mark

. design and _introduce cost-effective, innovative padormance-enhancing features that differentateproducts from those of
our competitors;

. develop relationships with potential suppliers ofnfponents required for these new or enhanced prsi(

. qualify these products for use in our customeipcts; anc

. develop and maintain effective marketing strategies

Our product development efforts are coatlg inherently risky. It is difficult to foreseearges or developments in technology or
anticipate the adoption of new standards. Moreaweee these things are identified, if at all, wé meed to hire the appropriate technical
personnel or retain third party designers, devébepproduct, identify and eliminate design flawsg ananufacture the product in production
guantities either in-house or through third-pargnufacturers. As a result, we may not be able toessfully develop new or enhanced
products or we may experience delays in the dewedmp and introduction of new or enhanced produéays in product development and
introduction could result in the loss of, or delétygenerating, net sales and the loss of marlkaresias well as damage to our reputation. Even
if we develop new or enhanced products, they mayne®t our customers' requirements or gain madeg@ance. Accordingly, we cannot
assure you that our future product developmenttsfioill result in the development of new or enhashproducts or that such products will
achieve market acceptance.

Our customers require that our products undergoenbthy and expensive qualification process withauty assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally magig@ificant commitment of resources to test anduata our memory subsystems prior to
purchasing our products and integrating them in&rtsystems. This extensive qualification prodgeselves rigorous reliability testing and
evaluation of our products, which may continuedisrmonths or longer and is often subject to delaysddition to qualification of specific
products, some of our customers may also requite usdergo a technology qualification if our protidesigns incorporate innovative
technologies that the customer has not previoustpentered. Such technology qualifications oftée tsubstantially longer than product
qualifications and can take over a year to compl@telification by a prospective customer doesamsure any sales to that prospective
customer. Even after successful qualification aaldssof our products to a customer, changes ipmgducts, our manufacturing facilities, our
production processes or our component suppliersreiyire a new qualification process, which mayitda additional delays.

In addition, because the qualification mexis both product-specific and platform-specdiar, existing customers sometimes require us to
requalify our products, or to qualify our new prothj for use in new platforms or applications. Eeample, as our OEM customers transition
from prior generation DDR2 DRAM architectures taremt generation DDR3 DRAM architectures, we muesigh and qualify new products
for use by those customers. In the past, this gpoédesign and qualification has taken up tavgixths to complete, during which time our
sales to those
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customers declined significantly. After our produate qualified, it can take several months betteeecustomer begins production and we
begin to generate net sales.

We must devote substantial resources, diegudesign, engineering, sales, marketing and gemant efforts, to qualify our products w
prospective customers in anticipation of salesniant delays in the qualification process, sashthose experienced with our HyperCloud™
product, could result in an inability to keep ughwiapid technology change or new, competitive nebbgies. If we delay or do not succeed in
qualifying a product with an existing or prospeetsustomer, we will not be able to sell that pradachat customer, which may result in our
holding excess and obsolete inventory and harnoperating results and business.

Sales to a limited number of customers represesignificant portion of our net sales and the los§ or a significant reduction in sales tc
any one of these customers could materially harnr business.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers Hastrically represented a substantial majoritpof net sales. Approximately 59% and 199
our net sales in 2010 were to two of our custoraatsapproximately 53% and 13% of our net sale®092vere to two of our customers. We
currently expect that sales to major OEM customélicontinue to represent a significant percentafjeur net sales for the foreseeable future.
We do not have long-term agreements with our OEMaaers, or with any other customer. Any one o$¢heustomers could decide at any
time to discontinue, decrease or delay their pugetdd our products. In addition, the prices thasthcustomers pay for our products could
change at any time. The loss of any of our OEMamasts, or a significant reduction in sales to ahthem, could significantly reduce our net
sales and adversely affect our operating results.

Our ability to maintain or increase our sales to our key customers depends on a varidgctidrs, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include our customers' ooieidl sales of servers and other computing systesigiicorporate our memory subsystems
and our customers' continued incorporation of aodpcts into their systems. Because of these dref faictors, net sales to these customers
may not continue and the amount of such net satgsmat reach or exceed historical levels in anyriiperiod. Because these customers
account for a substantial portion of our net sates failure of any one of these customers to pag timely basis would negatively impact our
cash flow. In addition, while we may not be contuatly obligated to accept returned products, wg ghetermine that it is in our best interes
accept returns in order to maintain good relatioitl our customers.

A limited number of relatively large potential cu@ners dominate the markets for our produc

Our target markets are characterized byiaeld number of large companies. Consolidatioonie or more of our target markets may
further increase this industry concentration. Assult, we anticipate that sales of our productsomntinue to be concentrated among a limited
number of large customers in the foreseeable fuWrebelieve that our financial results will dependignificant part on our success in
establishing and maintaining relationships wittd affecting substantial sales to, these potentisianers. Even if we establish these
relationships, our financial results will be largelependent on these customers' sales and busasests.

If a standardized memory solution which addressks tlemands of our customers is developed, our atdssand market share may declir

Many of our memory subsystems are spedifickesigned for our OEM customers' high perforn@agstems. In a drive to reduce costs
and assure supply of their memory module demandQ&M customers may endeavor to design JEDEC stdi2laRAM modules into their
new products. Although we also manufacture JEDE@uiws, this trend could reduce the demand for our
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higher priced customized memory solutions whictum would have a negative impact on our finan@aults. In addition, customers
deploying custom memory solutions today may infthere choose to adopt a JEDEC standard, and thatiad of a JEDEC standard module
instead of a previously custom module might all@wrcompetitors to participate in a share of out@ugrs' memory module business that
previously belonged to us.

If our OEM customers were to adopt JEDEEGard modules, our future business may be limdadentifying the next generation of
high performance memory demands of OEM custometglareloping solutions that addresses such dembmdis fully implemented, this
next generation of products may constitute a muehller market, which may reduce our net sales aadket share.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piasi because of the intense competition in our tetgd markets.

We participate in a highly competitive metrkand we expect competition to intensify. Manyof competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater resources and negnegnition, a larger base of customers and lestgerding relationships with customers and
suppliers than we have. As a result, some of thes®etitors are able to devote greater resourcémtdevelopment, promotion and sale of
products and are better positioned than we anefficence customer acceptance of their products oweproducts. These competitors also may
be able to respond better to new or emerging tdobies or standards and may be able to deliverymsdvith comparable or superior
performance at a lower price. For these reasonsnayenot be able to compete successfully agaiesetkompetitors. We also expect to face
competition from new and emerging companies that emer our existing or future markets. These p@eoompetitors may have similar or
alternative products which may be less costly orjole additional features.

In addition to the competition we face fr@RAM and logic suppliers such as Hynix, Samsungrdh, Inphi and IDT, some of our OE
customers have their own internal design groupsrtizy develop solutions that compete with ours.sehgesign groups have some advantages
over us, including direct access to their respeativmpanies' technical information and technolagdmaps. Our OEM customers also have
substantially greater resources, financial andretise, than we do, and may have lower cost strestthan ours. As a result, they may be able
to design and manufacture competitive products refiteiently or inexpensively. If any of these OEMstomers are successful in competing
against us, our sales could decline, our margio&ddoe negatively impacted and we could lose maskate, any or all of which could harm
business and results of operations. Further, sdroarasignificant suppliers are also competitorangnof whom have the ability to manufact
competitive products at lower costs as a resuthef higher levels of integration.

We expect our competitors to continue tpriove the performance of their current productdyce their prices and introduce new or
enhanced technologies that may offer greater padoce and improved pricing. If we are unable tocmat exceed the improvements mad
our competitors, our market position would detexierand our net sales would decline. In additiom,competitors may develop future
generations and enhancements of competitive predioat may render our technologies obsolete ormpetitive.

Our operating results may be adversely impacteduoyldwide economic and political uncertainties asgecific conditions in the markets \
address, including the cyclical nature of and valdy in the memory market and semiconductor indugt

Adverse changes in domestic and global@mimand political conditions have made it extreyrdifficult for our customers, our vendors
and us to accurately forecast and plan future legsiactivities, and they have caused and couldneento cause U.S. and foreign businesses tc
slow spending on our products and services, whighla@vfurther delay and lengthen sales cycles. Hitewh, sales of our
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products are dependent upon demand in the compuiitgyorking, communications, printer, storage sngistrial markets. These markets
have been cyclical and are characterized by wigsfhtions in product supply and demand. These eteHave experienced significant
downturns, often connected with, or in anticipatidnmaturing product cycles, reductions in teclbgglspending and declines in general
economic conditions. These downturns have beeractaized by diminished product demand, produatiagrcapacity, high inventory levels
and the erosion of average selling prices.

We may experience substantial period-téepeftuctuations in future operating results dudactors affecting the computing, networking,
communications, printers, storage and industriaketa. A decline or significant shortfall in demandany one of these markets could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our ptd@As a result, our sales will likely decline ihgrthese periods. In addition, because many
of our costs and operating expenses are relatfirdy, if we are unable to control our expensesjadéeely in response to reduced sales, our
gross margins, operating income and cash flow wbaldegatively impacted.

During challenging economic times our costos may face issues gaining timely access tocseffiti credit, which could result in an
impairment of their ability to make timely paymeixsus. If that were to occur, we may be requirethtrease our allowance for doubtful
accounts and our days sales outstanding would getimely impacted. Furthermore, our vendors mag fsimilar issues gaining access to
credit, which may limit their ability to supply cgranents or provide trade credit to us. We cannedipt the timing, strength or duration of any
economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovesidwide, or in the memory market and related semductor industry. If the econor
or markets in which we operate do not continuertprove or if conditions worsen, our business, faiahcondition and results of operations
will likely be materially and adversely affecteddditionally, the combination of our lengthy salgsle coupled with challenging
macroeconomic conditions could compound the negatipact on the results of our operations.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled ordes;, and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custoer demand, makes it difficult to forecast
our short-term production requirements to meet thdgmand, and any failure to optimally calibrate oproduction capacity and inventory
levels to meet customer demand could adverselycafferr revenues, gross margins and earnings.

We make significant decisions regardingléwels of business that we will seek and accaptjyrction schedules, component procurement
commitments, personnel needs and other resouro@eatgnts, based on our estimates of customerrargants. We do not have long-term
purchase agreements with our customers. Insteadustomers often place purchase orders no moretti@weeks in advance of their desired
delivery date, and these purchase orders gendéray no cancellation or rescheduling penalty pions The short-term nature of
commitments by many of our customers, the factdbatustomers may cancel or defer purchase ofdeey reason, and the possibility of
unexpected changes in demand for our customemdupt®each reduce our ability to accurately esermfiture customer requirements for our
products. This fact, combined with the quick turowumd times that apply to each order, makes itaiff to forecast our production needs and
allocate production capacity efficiently. We attértgpforecast the demand for the DRAM ICs, NANDdarther components needed to
manufacture our products. Lead times for componestg significantly and depend on various factstgsh as the specific supplier and the
demand and supply for a component at a given time.

Our production expense and component pseclevels are based in part on our forecasts ofastomers' future product requirements
to a large extent are fixed in the short term. Assalt, we likely will be unable to adjust sperglon a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. If we ovémeatie customer demand, we may have excess rawialateentory of DRAM ICs and
NAND. If there is a subsequent decline in the icEDRAM ICs or NAND, the value of our inventoryillall. As a result, we may need
write-down the value of our DRAM IC or
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NAND inventory, which may result in a significargatease in our gross margin and financial conditidso, to the extent that we manufact
products in anticipation of future demand that dogsmaterialize, or in the event a customer canceteduces outstanding orders, we could
experience an unanticipated increase in our fimigfeods inventory. In the past, we have had toewd@wn inventory due to obsolescence,
excess quantities and declines in market valueabelg costs. Any significant shortfall of custonoeders in relation to our expectations could
hurt our operating results, cash flows and findremadition.

Also, any rapid increases in productioruieggl by our customers could strain our resourogsraduce our margins. If we underestimate
customer demand, we may not have sufficient inugritb DRAM ICs and NAND on hand to manufacture egloproduct to meet that dema
We also may not have sufficient manufacturing capad any given time to meet our customers' deradadrapid increases in production.
These shortages of inventory and capacity will leadelays in the delivery of our products, andowmald forego sales opportunities, lose
market share and damage our customer relationships.

Declines in our average sales prices, driven byatité prices for DRAM ICs and NAND, among other fears, may result in declines in oL
revenues and gross profit.

Our industry is competitive and historigdilas been characterized by declines in averags pate, based in part on the market price of
DRAM ICs and NAND, which have historically constiéd a substantial portion of the total cost of m@mory subsystems. Our average sales
prices may decline due to several factors, inclgdivercapacity in the worldwide supply of DRAM aN&ND memory components as a result
of worldwide economic conditions, increased mantufidieg efficiencies, implementation of new manutaitg processes and expansion of
manufacturing capacity by component suppliers.

Once our prices with a customer are netgatiave are generally unable to revise pricing whéit customer until our next regularly
scheduled price adjustment. Consequently, we gresex to the risks associated with the volatilitthe price of DRAM ICs and NAND
during that period. If the market prices for DRARIY and NAND increase, we generally cannot paspribie increases on to our customers for
products purchased under an existing purchase.okdex result, our cost of sales could increasecamdjross margins could decrease.
Alternatively, if there are declines in the prideDRAM ICs and NAND, we may need to reduce ourisglprices for subsequent purchase
orders, which may result in a decline in our expdgctet sales.

In addition, since a large percentage ofsales are to a small number of customers thatrarearily distributors and large OEMs, these
customers have exerted, and we expect they witimos to exert, pressure on us to make price caimes If not offset by increases in volu
of sales or the sales of newly-developed produdts mgher margins, decreases in average salesgwiould likely have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results.

We use a small number of custom ASIC, DRAM IC andND suppliers and are subject to risks of disruptiin the supply of custom ASIC
DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders orqauce qualification samples is dependent on acserft supply of DRAM ICs and NAND, which
are essential components of our memory subsysiéasre also dependent on a sufficient supply dfoca#ASIC devices to produce our
HyperCloud™ memory modules. There are a relatigehall number of suppliers of DRAM ICs and NAND, amd purchase from only a
subset of these suppliers. We have no long-term MRANAND supply contracts. Additionally, we coufiaice obstacles in moving production
of our ASIC components away from our current desigd production partners. Our dependence on a simalber of suppliers and the lack of
any guaranteed sources of ASIC components, DRAMNSAND supply expose us to several risks, includimginability to obtain an adequate
supply of these important components, price in@gadelivery delays and poor quality.
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Historical declines in customer demand amdrevenues caused us to reduce our purchaseRAKDCs and NAND. Such fluctuations
could occur in the future. Should we not maintaiffisient purchase levels with some suppliers, atitity to obtain supplies of raw materials
may be impaired due to the practice of some suppligeallocate their products to customers withHiggest regular demand.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICsl&AND have required some suppliers to limit thppy of their DRAM ICs and NAND.
As a result, we may be unable to obtain the DRAM 6€ NAND necessary to fill customers' orders for products in a timely manner. If we
are unable to obtain a sufficient supply of DRAMsI@& NAND to meet our customers' requirements ghlestomers may reduce future orders
for our products or not purchase our productslatndlich would cause our net sales to decline ardhhour operating results. In addition, our
reputation could be harmed, we may not be ablegtace any lost business with new customers, anehayelose market share to our
competitors.

Our customers qualify the ASIC componeBRAM ICs and NAND of our suppliers for use in theyistems. If one of our suppliers
should experience quality control problems, it aydisqualified by one or more of our customerss Would disrupt our supplies of ASIC
components, DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce the nunobsuppliers available to us, and may require Weatjualify a new supplier. If our
suppliers are unable to produce qualification sasiph a timely basis or at all, we could experiatadays in the qualification process, which
could have a significant impact on our ability &l shat product.

If the supply of other component materials usedn@nufacture our products is interrupted, or if ounventory becomes obsolete, our rest
of operations and financial condition could be adgely affected.

We use consumables and other componestading PCBs, to manufacture our memory subsyst¥essometimes procure PCBs and
other components from single or limited sourceske advantage of volume pricing discounts. Makshartages or transportation problems
could interrupt the manufacture of our productsrftime to time in the future. These delays in mantifring could adversely affect our results
of operations.

Frequent technology changes and the inttiolu of next-generation products also may resulhe obsolescence of other items of
inventory, such as our custom-built PCBs, whichldeaeduce our gross margin and adversely affecbperating performance and financial
condition. We may not be able to sell some proddetseloped for one customer to another customeausecour products are often designed to
address specific customer requirements, and evea #re able to sell these products to anotheomest our margin on such products may be
reduced.

A prolonged disruption of our manufacturing facilit could have a material adverse effect on our buess, financial condition and results «
operations.

We maintain a manufacturing facility in tRRC for producing most of our products, whichwBaus to utilize our materials and proces
protect our intellectual property and develop #ehhology for manufacturing. A prolonged disrupt@material malfunction of, interruption
in or the loss of operations at our manufacturenglity, or the failure to maintain a sufficienblar force at such facility, would limit our
capacity to meet customer demand and delay newuptaidvelopment until a replacement facility andipment, if necessary, were found.
replacement of the manufacturing facility couldgan extended amount of time before manufactunpegations could restart. The potential
delays and costs resulting from these steps caud h material adverse effect on our businessydinhcondition and results of operations.

16




Table of Contents

If we are unable to manufacture our products effamitly, our operating results could suffe

We must continuously review and improve manufacturing processes in an effort to maintatisg&ctory manufacturing yields and
product performance, to lower our costs and toretlse remain competitive. As we manufacture momaiex products, the risk of
encountering delays or difficulties increases. $taet-up costs associated with implementing newufaaturing technologies, methods and
processes, including the purchase of new equipraedtany resulting manufacturing delays and inigfficies, could negatively impact our
results of operations.

If we need to add manufacturing capacityegpansion of our existing manufacturing facibtyestablishment of a new facility could be
subject to factory audits by our customers. Anyagelor unexpected costs resulting from this audit@ss could adversely affect our net sales
and results of operations. In addition, we canmotértain that we will be able to increase our nfaeturing capacity on a timely basis or meet
the standards of any applicable factory audits.

We depend on third-parties to design and manufaetuiustom components for some of our products.

Significant customized components, sucASKCs, that are used in some of our products as@ded and manufactured by third parties.
The ability and willingness of such third partiegerform in accordance with their agreements witlis largely outside of our control. If one
or more of our design or manufacturing partners fai perform its obligations in a timely mannerabisatisfactory quality levels, our ability to
bring products to market or deliver products to customers, as well as our reputation, could suffethe event of any such failures, we may
have no readily available alternative source opbufor such products, since, in our experience,léad time needed to establish a relationship
with a new design and/or manufacturing partnet Isast 12 months, and the estimated time for deM@ustomers to re-qualify our product
with components from a new vendor ranges from fourine months. We cannot assure you that we aasign, or cause to have redesigned,
our customized components to be manufactured mamanufacturer in a timely manner, nor can werasgou that we will not infringe on
the intellectual property of our current desigmmanufacture partner when we redesign the custonpeoants, or cause such components to be
redesigned by a new manufacturer. A manufacturisigigtion experienced by our manufacturing partnies failure of our manufacturing
partners to dedicate adequate resources to theigrod of our products, the financial instabilityaur manufacturing or design partners, or
other failure of our design or manufacturing parsrte perform according to their agreements withauld have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results afrafions.

We have many other risks due to our depeerlen third-party manufacturers, including: redlicentrol over delivery schedules, quality,
manufacturing yields and cost; the potential latkdequate capacity during periods of excess denamited warranties on products supplied
to us; and potential misappropriation of our irgetual property. We are dependent on our manufagtpartners to manufacture products with
acceptable quality and manufacturing yields, tiveelthose products to us on a timely basis arallt@ate a portion of their manufacturing
capacity sufficient to meet our needs. Although praducts are designed using the process desigs ofithe particular manufacturers, we
cannot assure you that our manufacturing partnérbevable to achieve or maintain acceptable Walddeliver sufficient quantities of
components on a timely basis or at an acceptalske Additionally, we cannot assure you that our ufacturing partners will continue to
devote adequate resources to produce our productsiinue to advance the process design techredagi which the qualification and
manufacturing of our products are based.
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If our products do not meet the quality standardsaur customers, we may be forced to stop shipmeaftgroducts until the quality issue
are resolved.

Our customers require our products to meedt quality standards. Should our products neetisuch standards, our customers may
discontinue purchases from us until we are abtegsolve the quality issues that are causing ustoneet the standards. Such "quality holds"
could have a significant adverse impact on ourmaes and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defeetsystems, we may be subject to warranty, prodecalls or product liability claims

If our products are defectively manufactijreontain defective components or are used inctigéeor malfunctioning systems, we could
subject to warranty and product liability claimglgroduct recalls, safety alerts or advisory natia®hile we have product liability insurance
coverage, it may not be adequate to satisfy clarade against us. We also may be unable to obtaimance in the future at satisfactory rates
or in adequate amounts. Warranty and product itglmlaims or product recalls, regardless of thdfimate outcome, could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andutapion, and on our ability to attract and retaistomers. In addition, we may determine th
is in our best interest to accept product retunnsiicumstances where we are not contractuallygat#d to do so in order to maintain good
relations with our customers. Accepting productimes may negatively impact our operating results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourustomers or our competitors might gain access ta ptoprietary designs, processes a
technologies, which could adversely affect our oging results.

We rely on a combination of patent protattitrade secret laws and restrictions on discesuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdégg our proprietary processes and technologg. bt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. Tatel we have had only eighteen patents issued. ¥fedro continue filing patent applications
with respect to most of the new processes and tdohies that we develop. However, patent proteatiay not be available for some of these
processes or technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:

. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or aineention of, our existing intellectual propertyhts;

. prevent our competitors from independently develgmimilar products, duplicating our products asigaing around an
patents that may be issued to us;

. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property rights;

. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and |-how to third parties or into the public doma

. result in valid patents, including internationatqras, from any of our pending or future applicasipor

. otherwise adequately protect our intellectual propeghts.

Others may attempt to reverse engineely ooptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetdgies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takepraevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigpuntries, such as the PRC, where we have establsimanufacturing facility and where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights to shene extent as applicable U.S. laws.
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If some or all of the claims in our patepplications are not allowed, or if any of our Ilgetual property protections are limited in scope
by a court or circumvented by others, we could faceeased competition with regard to our productsreased competition could significar
harm our business and our operating results.

We are involved in and expect to continue to bedtwed in costly legal and administrative proceedingp defend against claims that we
infringe the intellectual property rights of othersr to enforce or protect our intellectual propertights.

As is common to the semiconductor industry,have experienced substantial litigation regaydiatent and other intellectual property
rights. Lawsuits claiming that we are infringindnets' intellectual property rights have been ang imahe future be brought against us, anc
are currently defending against claims of invajidit the USPTO. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements, included in
Part IV, Item 15 of this Report, for a descriptimiour legal contingencies.

The process of obtaining and protectingpistis inherently uncertain. In addition to théepaissuance process established by law and th
procedures of the USPTO, we must comply with JERE®inistrative procedures in protecting our intlal property within its industry
standard setting process. These procedures evedrdime, are subject to variability in their agglfion, and may be inconsistent with each
other. Failure to comply with JEDEC's administratprocedures could jeopardize our ability to clétiat our patents have been infringed.

By making use of new technologies and émgemew markets there is an increased likelihoed ¢tthers might allege that our products
infringe on their intellectual property rights. igation is inherently uncertain, and an adverseant in existing or any future litigation could
subject us to significant liability for damagesiovalidate our proprietary rights. An adverse oateocalso could force us to take specific
actions, including causing us to:

. cease manufacturing and/or selling products, argusertain processes, that are claimed to be gifrgna third party"
intellectual property;

. pay damages (which in some instances may be timnes ictual damages), including royalties on pefitare sales;

. seek a license from the third party intellectuaparty owner to use their technology in our produathich license may not be
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed to bagifrg a third party's intellectual property.

If any adverse ruling in any such mattezuss, any resulting limitations in our ability tcanket our products, or delays and costs assor
with redesigning our products or payments of lieefees to third parties, or any failure by us teedep or license a substitute technology on
commercially reasonable terms could have a matadatrse effect on our business, financial condiéind results of operations.

There is a limited pool of experienced techl personnel that we can draw upon to meet oinghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during theneeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work his&xi In the past, some of these competitors haimetbthat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionam-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitoay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existiegnployees or make such claims in the future tggareus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thereo merit to the claim, simply as a strateggiain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.
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We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaeid former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property and contractual and commeéragts including, in particular, our trade sesreds well as to challenge the validity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others. We cdaddome subject to counterclaims or countersugagus as a result of this litigation.
Moreover, any legal disputes with customers coalase them to cease buying or using our produdlglay their purchase of our products and
could substantially damage our relationship witnth

Any litigation, regardless of its outcomeuld be time consuming and costly to resolve, digar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations. Wencarassure you that current or future infringentdaims by third parties or claims for
indemnification by customers or end users of oodpcts resulting from infringement claims will Hm asserted in the future or that such
assertions, if proven to be true, will not matdyialdversely affect our business, financial comditor results of operations.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thjpdrty intellectual property and we fail to do sayobusiness could be harme

Although some of the components used infioal products contain the intellectual properfythord parties, we believe that our suppliers
bear the sole responsibility to obtain any rightd Bcenses to such third party intellectual propewhile we have no knowledge that any third
party licensor disputes our belief, we cannot asyou that disputes will not arise in the futurbeToperation of our business and our ability to
compete successfully depends significantly on oatinued operation without claims of infringementdemands resulting from such claims,
including demands for payments of money in the fofpfor example, ongoing licensing fees.

We are also developing products to enter markets. Similar to our current products, we maag components in these new products that
contain the intellectual property of third partigéhile we plan to exercise precautions to avoidmgfing on the intellectual property rights of
third parties, we cannot assure you that disputéset arise.

If it is determined that we are requiredbtain inbound licenses and we fail to obtainrses, or if such licenses are not available on
economically feasible terms, our business, opaga#sults and financial condition could be sigrifidy harmed.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving aomimpetitive, and we may not have rights to manutaetand sell certain types of
products utilizing emerging flash formats, or we mée required to pay a royalty to sell productsliatng these formats

The flash-based storage market is constantliergoing rapid technological change and evglumlustry standards. Many consumer
devices, such as digital cameras, PDAs and smargshare transitioning to emerging flash memorynfis, such as the Memory Stick, and
Picture Card formats, which we do not currently ofanture and do not have rights to manufactureh@lgh we do not currently serve the
consumer flash market, it is possible that cer@ivis may choose to adopt these higher-volume, l@est formats. This could result in a
decline in demand, on a relative basis, for otmedpcts that we manufacture such as CompactFl&lan8 embedded USB drives. If we
decide to manufacture flash memory products utilizmerging formats such as those mentioned, wéwvilequired to secure licenses to give
us the right to manufacture such products that nudye available at reasonable rates or at allelire not able to supply flash card formats at
competitive prices or if we were to have produdrdiges, our net sales could be adversely impaatdaur customers would likely cancel
orders or seek other suppliers to replace us.
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Our indemnification obligations for the infringemenby our products of the intellectual property rigof others could require us to pay
substantial damage:

As is common in the industry, we curreritbve in effect a number of agreements in which axetagreed to defend, indemnify and hold
harmless our customers and suppliers from damagksasts which may arise from the infringement by roducts of third-party patents,
trademarks or other proprietary rights. The scdioh indemnity varies, but may, in some instaptesdude indemnification for damages and
expenses, including attorneys' fees. Our insurdoes not cover intellectual property infringemdrite term of these indemnification
agreements is generally perpetual any time aftecigtion of the agreement. The maximum potentialiarhof future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agesgsnis unlimited. We may periodically have to s to claims and litigate these types of
indemnification obligations. Although our suppliensy bear responsibility for the intellectual pragénherent in the components they sell to
us, they may lack the financial ability to standhipel such indemnities. Additionally, it may be dpdb enforce any indemnifications that they
have granted to us. Accordingly, any indemnificatitaims by customers could require us to incunifigant legal fees and could potentially
result in the payment of substantial damages, bbtvhich could result in a material adverse effatiour business and results of operations.

We depend on a few key employees, and if we loseséhvices of any of those employees or are unéblere additional personnel, our
business could be harmed.

To date, we have been highly dependenherxperience, relationships and technical knovdexfgertain key employees. We believe
that our future success will be dependent on oilityato retain the services of these key employekevelop their successors, reduce our
reliance on them, and properly manage the transitfdheir roles should departures occur. The tdghese key employees could delay the
development and introduction of, and negativelyactmur ability to sell our products and otherwisem our business. We do not have
employment agreements with any of these key empbowgéher than Chun K. Hong, our President, Chiefchtive Officer and Chairman of the
Board. In 2010, we obtained "Key Man" life insuraran Chun K. Hong; however, we do not carry "KeynMéfe insurance on any of our
other key employees.

Our future success also depends on outyetalattract, retain and motivate highly skilledgineering, manufacturing, and other technical
and sales personnel. Competition for experiencesbpeael is intense. We may not be successful iacihg new engineers or other technical
personnel, or in retaining or motivating our exigtpersonnel. If we are unable to hire and retagireeers with the skills necessary to keep
pace with the evolving technologies in our markets, ability to continue to provide our current goats and to develop new or enhanced
products will be negatively impacted, which woulttin our business. In addition, the shortage of egpeed engineers, and other factors, may
lead to increased recruiting, relocation and corapgon costs for such engineers, which may exceeéxpectations and resources. These
increased costs may make hiring new engineergdiffior may increase our operating expenses.

Historically, a significant portion of oworkforce has consisted of contract personnel. West considerable time and expense in trai
these contract employees. We may experience higbyar rates in our contract employee workforceictvimay require us to expend
additional resources in the future. If we convery af these contract employees into permanent eyepk) we may have to pay finder's fees to
the contract agency.
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We rely on third-party manufacturers' representagis and the failure of these manufacturers' represatives to perform as expected could
reduce our future sales.

We sell some of our products to customarsugh manufacturers' representatives. We are enalgredict the extent to which our
manufacturers' representatives will be successfoiarketing and selling our products. Moreover, ynafnour manufacturers' representatives
also market and sell competing products. Our rgmtasives may terminate their relationships wittauany time. Our future performance will
also depend, in part, on our ability to attractiddal manufacturers' representatives that wilbb& to market and support our products
effectively, especially in markets in which we hanat previously distributed our products. If we gatretain our current manufacturers'
representatives or recruit additional or replacemeenufacturers' representatives, our sales ancitipg results will be harmed.

The operation of our manufacturing facility in th&RC could expose us to significant risks.

During 2007, we invested significant timmelaffort in establishing a manufacturing facilitythe PRC and preparing it for full-scale
operations. This manufacturing facility became afienal in July 2007 and was successfully qualiigdcertain key customers at that time. As
of February 1, 2009, substantially all of our wenlile manufacturing production was being perforrmethe PRC. Language and cultural
differences, as well as the geographic distanae fsar headquarters in Irvine, California, furthermgpound the difficulties of running a
manufacturing operation in the PRC. Our manageinasiimited experience in creating or overseeimgifm operations, and this new facility
may divert substantial amounts of their time. Wienza assure you that we will be able to maintainticd over product quality, delivery
schedules, manufacturing yields and costs as wedse our output. We also have to manage a loc&feroe that may subject us to
uncertainties or regulatory policies and we rensaibject to risks related to managing the increpseduction capacity provided by the facili
Should anticipated demand not materialize, thesomtated to having excess capacity would havedaarae impact on our gross margins and
operating results.

Changes in the labor laws of the PRC ctddease the cost of employing the local workfoiidee increased industrialization of the PRC
could also increase the price of local labor. Eithfehese factors could negatively impact the sastings we currently enjoy from having our
manufacturing facility in the PRC.

In the future, some of our net sales magdrominated in Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"). The Ckgovernment controls the procedures
by which RMB is converted into other currenciesj annversion of RMB generally requires governmemisent. As a result, RMB may not be
freely convertible into other currencies at allén If the Chinese government institutes changesiirency conversion procedures, or imposes
restrictions on currency conversion, those actioag negatively impact our operations and could cechur operating results. In addition,
fluctuations in the exchange rate between RMB ar&l Wollars may adversely affect our expenses esults of operations as well as the value
of our assets and liabilities. These fluctuatiorayralso adversely affect the comparability of oerigad-toperiod results. If we decide to decl
dividends and repatriate funds from our Chineseaifmns, we will be required to comply with the peolures and regulations of applicable
Chinese law. Any changes to these procedures guudateons, or our failure to comply with those pedares and regulations, could prevent us
from making dividends and repatriating funds froamn €hinese operations, which could adversely affectfinancial condition. If we are able
to make dividends and repatriate funds from oun€ée operations, these dividends would be sulgjddiS. corporate income tax.

The PRC currently provides for favorabbe tates for certain foreigowned enterprises operating in specified locationtke PRC throuc
2012. We have established our PRC facility in suthxfavored location. Should we fail to achieve prdfitiy while favorable tax rates are
effect, or before our loss carryforwards in the P&@ire, it is possible that we would not realilze tax benefits to the extent originally
anticipated and this could adversely impact ouraiogy results.
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Economic, political and other risks associated wititernational sales and operations could adversaffect our net sales

Part of our growth strategy involves maksades to foreign corporations and delivering aedpcts to facilities located in foreign
countries. To facilitate this process and to meetdng-term projected demand for our productshaxe set up a manufacturing facility in the
PRC. Selling and manufacturing in foreign countsebjects us to additional risks not present withdomestic operations. We are operatin
business and regulatory environments in which we tianited previous experience. We will need totowre to overcome language and
cultural barriers to effectively conduct our opéas in these environments. In addition, the ecdesrof the PRC and other countries have
been highly volatile in the past, resulting in sfigant fluctuations in local currencies and othestabilities. These instabilities affect a number
of our customers and suppliers in addition to aueign operations and continue to exist or may pagain in the future.

International turmoil and the threat ofui terrorist attacks, both domestically and irtdiomally, have contributed to an uncertain
political and economic climate, both in the U.Sd gobally, and have negatively impacted the woithweconomy. The occurrence of one or
more of these instabilities could adversely affaat foreign operations and some of our customessippliers, each of which could adversely
affect our net sales. In addition, our failure teehapplicable regulatory requirements or overcoutiral barriers could result in production
delays and increased turn-around times, which wadlersely affect our business.

Our international sales are subject to rotis&s, including regulatory risks, tariffs anchet trade barriers, timing and availability of expo
licenses, political and economic instability, difflties in accounts receivable collections, diffies in managing distributors, lack of a
significant local sales presence, difficulties btaining governmental approvals, compliance withide variety of complex foreign laws and
treaties and potentially adverse tax consequenteasidition, the U.S. or foreign countries may ietpkent quotas, duties, taxes or other charges
or restrictions upon the importation or exportatidrour products, leading to a reduction in sales profitability in that country.

Our operations could be disrupted by power outagestural disasters or other factors.

Due to the geographic concentration ofraanufacturing operations, a disruption resultimrfrequipment failure, power failures, quality
control issues, human error, government interventionatural disasters, including earthquakess firefloods, could interrupt or interfere with
our manufacturing operations and consequently lmnmnbusiness, financial condition and results @frations. Such disruptions would cause
significant delays in shipments of our products addersely affect our operating results.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws anegulations could subject us to significant fines @fiabilities or cause us to incur
significant costs

We are subject to various and frequentgnging U.S. federal, state and local and foreigregumental laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theasid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafrdnated sites and the maintenance of a safe \lamdpln particular, some of our
manufacturing processes may require us to handlelapose of hazardous materials from time to tiog.example, in the past our
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrdaltiee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-feee soldering technologies in our
manufacturing processes, as this is required f@ilymts entering the European Union. We could isalnstantial costs, including clean-up
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of, or
noncompliance with,
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environmental laws and regulations. These lawsragdlations also could require us to incur sigaificcosts to remain in compliance.
Our internal controls over financial reporting mawnot be effective, which could have a significantciadverse effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @df28nd the rules and regulations of the SEC, wivieltollectively refer to as Section 404,
require us to evaluate our internal controls oirgrfcial reporting to allow management to reporttwse internal controls as of the end of ¢
year. Effective internal controls are necessaryfoto produce reliable financial reports and ampdrtant in our effort to prevent financ
fraud. In the course of our Section 404 evaluatisresmay identify conditions that may result inrsfggant deficiencies or material weaknesses
and we may conclude that enhancements, modificatiorchanges to our internal controls are necessagsirable. Implementing any such
matters would divert the attention of our managermeould involve significant costs, and may negafhmpact our results of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitationghe effectiveness of internal controls, as tteynot prevent collusion, management override
or failure of human judgment. If we fail to maimtan effective system of internal controls or ifragement or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to discover materialakieesses in our internal controls, we may be untalpeoduce reliable financial reports or
prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial dtind and results of operations, result in a losmweestor confidence and negatively impact
our stock price.

If we do not effectively manage future growth, otgsources, systems and controls may be strained @amdresults of operations may suffe

We have in the past expanded our operatlmote domestically and internationally. Any futgewth may strain our resources,
management information and telecommunication systamd operational and financial controls. To marfature growth effectively,
including the expansion of volume in our manufacigifacility in the PRC, we must be able to imprarel expand our systems and controls.
We may not be able to do this in a timely or cd&ative manner, and our current systems and ctsnitnay not be adequate to support our
future operations. In addition, our officers hagtatively limited experience in managing a rapigigwing business or a public company. As a
result, they may not be able to provide the guidamecessary to manage future growth or maintaiméunarket position. Any failure to
manage our growth or improve or expand our exissiyggems and controls, or unexpected difficultiedding so, could harm our business.

If we acquire other businesses or technologiestie future, these acquisitions could disrupt our bness and harm our operating resul
and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquitesinesses or technologies that might complementwuwent product offerings or enhance our
technical capabilities. We have no experience quaimg other businesses or technologies. Acqoisitientail a number of risks that could
adversely affect our business and operating resnttsiding, but not limited to:

difficulties in integrating the operations, techogies or products of the acquired compar
. the diversion of management's time and attentiomfihe normal daily operations of the business;

. insufficient increases in net sales to offset inse®l expenses associated with acquisitions orrachcompanies;

difficulties in retaining business relationshipgwsuppliers and customers of the acquired compg
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. the overestimation of potential synergies or ayl@laealizing those synergies;

entering markets in which we have no or limitedexignce and in which competitors have stronger ptgs&sitions; an

. the potential loss of key employees of the acquiadpanies.

Future acquisitions also could cause usdor debt or be subject to contingent liabilitigsaddition, acquisitions could cause us to issue
equity securities that could dilute the ownershepcgntages of our existing stockholders. Furtheemaequisitions may result in material
charges or adverse tax consequences, substargiaciion, deferred compensation charges, in-gooesearch and development charges, the
amortization of amounts related to deferred stoggeld compensation expense and identifiable purdhasmgible assets or impairment of
goodwill, any or all of which could negatively afteour results of operations.

Our existing indebtedness and any future indebtedseve incur could adversely affect our cash flowdgorevent us from fulfilling our
financial obligations.

On September 30, 2010, we renewed our viengLredit agreement and concurrently obtainegh tean financing. Incurring debt could
have material consequences, such as:

. requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash ffowm operations and other capital resources t¢ sievice, thereby reducir
our ability to fund working capital, capital expétudes, and other cash requirements;

. increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid emdlustry conditions;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes and opportunities in, our businedsradustry, which may place
at a competitive disadvantage; and

. limiting our ability to incur additional debt on @eptable terms, if at all.

Additionally, if we are unable to maintdiquidity levels, as defined in the credit agreemen if we were to default under our credit
agreement and were unable to obtain a waiver fdn audefault, interest on the obligations wouldrae@t an increased rate. In the case of a
default, the lenders could accelerate our obligationder the credit agreement; however, accelaratibbe automatic in the case of
bankruptcy and insolvency events of default.

Additionally, to the extent we have madinompany loans to our subsidiaries and have plkdgch loans to the lenders under the ¢
agreement, our subsidiaries would be required yalpa amount of the intercompany loans to the lendethe event we are in default under
credit agreement. Any actions taken by the lendgagnst us in the event we are in default undectédit agreement could harm our financial
condition. Finally, the credit facility containsrtain restrictive covenants, including provisioestricting our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, guarantee certain obligations, cogatesume liens and pay dividends.

Our investments in auction rate securities are sety to risks which may cause losses and affectlitpeidity of these investments.

We hold certain investments in auction ssgeurities that have failed, or may in the fufiait their respective auctions. An auction failure
means that the parties wishing to sell their séiegrcould not do so. As a result of failed auctioour ability to liquidate and fully recover the
carrying value of our investments in the near teray be limited or not exist. If the issuers of th@s/estments are unable to close future
auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, veg i the future be required to record an impairmoarge on these investments. We also may
be required to wait until market stability is regth for these investments or until the final mayuoif the underlying notes (up to 30 years) to
realize our investments' cost value.
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Risks related to our common stock
Our principal stockholders have significant votingower and may take actions that may not be in tlestinterest of our other stockholders.

As of January 1, 2011, our executive officelirectors and 5% stockholders beneficially oimrtptal, approximately 25% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, these suidkhs, acting together, have the ability to eselistantial influence over all matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, includihg tlection and removal of directors and any pregaserger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets and other corpdratesactions. This concentration of control ccwgddisadvantageous to other stockholders with
interests different from those of our executivea#fs, directors and principal stockholders. Famagle, our executive officers, directors and
principal stockholders could delay or prevent aguésition or merger even if the transaction woudsh&fit other stockholders. In addition, this
significant concentration of share ownership mayeasely affect the trading price for our commorcktbecause investors may perceive
disadvantages in owning stock in companies withldtolders that have the ability to exercise sigaifit control.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdabelaware law could delay or prevent a change oftol and could also limit the
market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylasantain provisions that could delay or prevenhange of control of our company or change
our board of directors that our stockholders mightsider favorable. In addition, these provisioogla limit the price that investors would be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commnstock. The following are examples of provisiarisch are included in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended:

. our board of directors is authorized, without pstwckholder approval, to designate and issue pegfestock, commonly
referred to as "blank check" preferred stock, witiiits senior to those of our common stock;

. stockholder action by written consent is prohibi

. nominations for election to our board of directarsl the submission of matters to be acted upondakisolders at a meeting are

subject to advance notice requirements; and

. our board of directors is expressly authorized &ken alter or repeal our bylaw

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpdratv, which may prohibit certain busine
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law, daubke it more difficult for stockholders or pot@hticquirers to obtain control of our
board of directors or initiate actions that areaggu by the then-current board of directors, indgdelaying or impeding a merger, tender
offer, or proxy contest or other change of contrahsaction involving our company. Any delay oryaetion of a change of control transaction
or changes in our board of directors could pretleatconsummation of a transaction in which ourldtotders could receive a substantial
premium over the then-current market price forrtkbares.

The price of and volume in trading of our commonosk has and may continue to fluctuate significantly

Our common stock has been publicly tradedesNovember 2006. The price of our common stotkthe trading volume of our shares
volatile and have in the past fluctuated signiftbariThere can be no assurance as to the prioghiah our common stock will trade in the
future or that an active trading market in our camnnstock will be sustained in the future. The mapee at which
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our common stock trades may be influenced by maatpfs, including but not limited to, the following

. our operating and financial performance and prasp&tcluding our ability to achieve and sustaiafpability in the future;
. investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate;

. the availability and level of research coveragarad market making in our common stock;

. changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiems by analyst:

. general financial and other market conditions;

. changing and recently volatile domestic and intéonal economic conditions.

In addition, shares of our common stock duedpublic stock markets in general, have expedgdnand may continue to experience,
extreme price and trading volume volatility. Thélsetuations may adversely affect the market pdteur common stock and a shareholders
ability to sell their shares into the market at desired time or at the desired price.

In 2007, following a drop in the marketgariof our common stock, securities litigation waiiated against us. Given the historic volati
of our industry, we may become engaged in this tfdiigation in the future. Securities litigatias expensive and time-consuming.

Iltem 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located pr@pmately 28,700 square feet of space in Irvaljfornia, under a lease that expires in June
2011. We also currently lease approximately 43 &fifare feet of space for our manufacturing facititthe PRC. This lease expires March
2012. In addition, we lease offices on a monthlgiban a corporate office center located in Same JGsalifornia.

We believe that our current facilities ateequate for our current and expected operatiarthéonext twelve months and that additional
space can be obtained if needed.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in the sectionitbed Patent Claims under Note 9 of Notes to Ctidated Financial Statements, included in
Part 1V, Item 15 of this Report is incorporateddirrby reference.
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The NA®D®@lobal Market under the trading symbol "NLST"avember 30, 2006, and was not
publicly traded prior to that date. The followirapte sets forth the high and low sale prices ferammmon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended January 1, 201

Fourth Quarte $ 39C $ 212

Third Quartel 3.5¢ 2.21

Second Quarte 3.7¢ 1.81

First Quartel 6.1C 3.1¢
Year Ended January 2, 2010

Fourth Quarte $ 7.9¢ $ 0.5¢

Third Quartel 0.7¢ 0.3C

Second Quarte 0.5: 0.1€

First Quartel 0.3t 0.11

As of February 15, 2011, there were appnately 58 holders of record of our common shares.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash didgem our capital stock. Our current credit fagiptohibits the payment of cash dividends.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring or paycash dividends on our capital stock in the feeeble future. Any payments of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our boardda®ctors, and will depend upon our results ofrapiens, earnings, capital requirements, legal
and contractual restrictions, and other factorsrakerelevant by our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholdersehareviously approved our Amended and Restated EQ0@y Incentive Plan and our Ament
and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. Excefistesl in the table below, we do not have any goiétsed plans, including individual
compensation
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arrangements that have not been approved by ocktaitwers. The following table provides informatias of January 1, 2011 with respect to
our equity compensation plans:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

(@ (b) (c)
Equity compensation plar
approved by security
holders 4,432,68' $ 2.54 1,394,90(1)
Equity compensation plar
not approved by securi
holders 201,8742)% 3.31 —

Total 4,634,56. $ 2.57 1,394,901

(1) Subject to certain adjustments, on January 1, 20&Xkurrently are able to issue a maximum of 4285 shares of
common stock pursuant to awards granted under menéled and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plart baimum
number will automatically increase on the first @dyeach calendar year by the lesser of (i) 5.0%e@fnumber of shares
of common stock that are issued and outstandimj e first day of the calendar year, and (ii)dD 200 shares of
common stock, subject to adjustment for certaiporate actions.

2) Consists of:

0] 50,000 options to purchase shares of our commaik ssued to our Director of Marketing in conneutisith his
hiring in June 2009. The options vest over a peoiod years, are exercisable at $0.35 per shadecamtain a
contractual term of 10 years from the date of grant

(ii) 12,500 options to purchase shares of our commak &teued to our Director of Applications in contiec with
his hiring in November 2009. The options are fuigsted, are exercisable at a price of $6.03 peeshad expire
in 2011 as a result of termination of employment.

(i) 100,000 options to purchase shares of our comnoak stsued to our Vice President of Sales and Mangén
connection with his hiring in January 2010. Theiam vest over a period of 3.3 years, are exerlgsaif$5.00 pe
share, and contain a contractual term of 10 years the date of grant.

(iv) 30,000 options to purchase shares of our commak sdeued to our Controller and Director of Finahci
Reporting in connection with her hiring in April 20. The options vest over a period of 4 yearsgaegcisable at
$1.92 per share, and contain a contractual terh® glears from the date of grant.

(v) 9,375 options to purchase shares of our commoik teaed to our Vice President and General Counsel

connection with her hiring in April 2010. The opt®are fully vested, are exercisable at $1.92 lpares and
expire in 2011 as a result of termination of empient.

See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants, included in Part IV, Item 15 of the Repiant,additional
information on equity compensation pla
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the relatetgs included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

This report contains forward-looking statementsaneling future events and our future performanceesehforward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that could causeiakresults to differ materially from those exptor projected. These risks and uncertair
include, but are not limited to continuing develam qualification and volume production of NVv&dland HyperCloud™; the rapidly-
changing nature of technology; risks associatedhwitellectual property, including the costs angredictability of litigation over
infringement of our property and the possibilityoofr patents being reexamined by the USPTO; vijatit the pricing of DRAM ICs and
NAND; changes in and uncertainty of customer acueg of, and demand for, our existing products @mdiucts under developme
including uncertainty of and/or delays in productlers and product qualifications; delays in our amar customers' product releases and
development; introductions of new products by cditgee; changes in end-user demand for technoladyt®ns; our ability to attract and
retain skilled personnel; our reliance on suppliefsritical components and vendors in the supplgie; fluctuations in the market price of
critical components; evolving industry standardagdéghe political and regulatory environment in tARRC. Other risks and uncertainties are
described under the heading "Risk Factors™" in Raltem IA of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Bxicas required by law, we undertake no
obligation to revise or update publicly any forwdmbking statements for any reason.

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high-peréorce, intelligent memory subsystems for datacessterer and high-performance computing
and communications markets. Our memory subsystemsist of combinations of DRAM ICs, NAND, ASICs aather components assembled
on PCBs. We primarily market and sell our prodtctieading OEM customers. Our solutions are tarjateapplications where memory plays
a key role in meeting system performance requirésné¥ie leverage a portfolio of proprietary techigi#s and design techniques, including
efficient planar design, alternative packaging mghes and custom semiconductor logic, to delivemory subsystems with high memory
density, small form factor, high signal integrigftiractive thermal characteristics and low costier

Recent Developments

In November 2009, we introduced HyperClouB™R3 memory technology. HyperCloud™ utilizes anl@$hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthrcreases memory capacity and load reductiontiomality that increases mema
bandwidth. We expect that this technology will malossible improved levels of performance for memiotgnsive datacenter applications and
workloads, including enterprise virtualization, etbcomputing infrastructure, business intelligeread-time data analytics, and high
performance computing. HyperCloud™ memory is bengluated by several of our OEM customers for ngbeir server products.
HyperCloud™ is interoperable with JEDEC standardRB3Dnemory modules. Our HyperCloud™ products ar@des to allow for installatic
in servers without the need for a BIOS change.ueh stheir anticipated sales launch is not depenalethe design plans or product cycle of
our OEM customers. However, we have experiencedger qualification cycle than anticipated. As afidary 1, 2011, we have not shipped
any production quantities of HyperCloud™.

In February 2010, we announced generalabibify of NVvault™ battery-free, a non-volatil@eche memory subsystem targeting RAID
storage applications. NVvault™ battery-free progiderver and storage OEMs a solution for enhanatstenter fault recovery. Unlike our
traditional
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battery-powered fault tolerant cache product whéihed solely on batteries to power the cache, N\MV¥ battery-free utilizes a combination
of DRAM for high throughput performance and flasih éxtended data retention. The introduction of HMt™ battery-free, as well as the
launch of the current version of the battery-power®dule in connection with Dell introduction oEtRERC 7 line of servers in December
2009, has resulted in RAID controller subsystenenexes of $20.2 million, or 54% of total revenuesZ010, including $4.8 million of
NVvault™. This compares favorably with $7.3 millianRAID controller subsystem revenues, or 40%otdltrevenues for 2009. Althouy
revenues in 2010 have been primarily for shipmani3ell, in the fourth quarter of 2010 we qualifid/vault™ battery-free with other
OEMs. We also intend to pursue end-user opporasiti

The remainder of our revenues arose prlyncdim OEM sales of custom memory modules, thearityj of which were utilized in data
center and industrial applications. When develogingtom modules for an equipment product launchemgage with our OEM customers
from the earliest stages of new product definitigmoviding us unique insight into their full rangesystem architecture and performance
requirements. This close collaboration has alsmnedt us to develop a significant level of systemseetise. We leverage a portfolio of
proprietary technologies and design techniquedydig efficient planar design, alternative packagiechniques and custom semiconductor
logic, to deliver memory subsystems with high sp@aghacity and signal integrity, small form factattractive thermal characteristics and low
cost per bit. Revenues from custom modules haveoweg as a result of OEM product placements onplatforms and improved economic
conditions compared with 2009. The continuatiothdd trend, which cannot be assured, is dependentioability to qualify our memory
modules on new platforms as current platforms reélaelend of their life cycles, and on the statthefglobal economy.

Consistent with the concentrated naturdn@fOEM customer base in our target markets, alsmaiber of large customers have
historically accounted for a significant portionaifr net sales. Two customers represented appreelyrE0% and 19%, respectively, of our
sales in 2010, and approximately 53% and 13%, otispdy, of our net sales in 2009.

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line item®ur consolidated statements of operations tteiraportant to management's assessment of
our financial performance:

Net Sales. Net sales consist primarily of sales of outhhjgerformance memory subsystems, net of a provisioestimated returns unc
our right of return policies, which generally rangeto 30 days. We generally do not have long-teaas agreements with our customers.
Although OEM customers typically provide us withrAeinding forecasts of future product demand oveci§igeperiods of time, they genera
place orders with us approximately two weeks inaaxbe of scheduled delivery. Selling prices areciihy negotiated monthly, based on
competitive market conditions and the current paEBRAM ICs and NAND. Purchase orders generallyehao cancellation or rescheduling
penalty provisions. We often ship our productsduo@istomers' international manufacturing site$.ofAbur sales to date, however, are
denominated in U.S. dollars. We also sell exceaspoment inventory of DRAM ICs and NAND to distrilous and other users of memory ICs.
As compared to previous years, component invergalys remain a relatively small percentage of alessas a result of our efforts to diversify
both our customer and product line bases. Thigiifigation effort has also allowed us to use congus in a wider range of memory
subsystems. We expect that component inventorg sélecontinue to represent a minimal portion of met sales in future periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of matgriaknufacturing costs, depreciation and amortinaif equipment,
inventory valuation provisions, stock-based comp#on, and occupancy costs and other allocated fixsts. The DRAM ICs and NAND
incorporated into our

31




Table of Contents

products constitute a significant portion of oustcof sales, and thus our cost of sales will flattibased on the current price of DRAM ICs
NAND. We attempt to pass through such DRAM IC asND flash memory cost fluctuations to our customgydrequently renegotiatin
pricing prior to the placement of their purchasgens. However, the sales prices of our memory |1bs)s can also fluctuate due to
competitive situations unrelated to the pricind®AM ICs and NAND, which affects gross margins. ress margin on our sales of excess
component DRAM IC and NAND inventory is much lowtban the gross margin on our sales of our memdrgy®iems. As a result,
fluctuations in DRAM IC and NAND inventory salesapercentage of our overall sales could impacbeerall gross margin. We assess the
valuation of our inventories on a quarterly basid eecord a provision to cost of sales as nece¢sanduce inventories to the lower of cost or
net realizable value.

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expense consistsrpyimieemployee and independent contractor
compensation and related costs, stock-based comtEmsnon-recurring engineering fees, computeeaidesign software licenses, reference
design development costs, patent filing and praiedegal fees, depreciation or rental of evaluagguipment, and occupancy and other
allocated overhead costs. Also included in reseanchdevelopment expense are the costs of madedabverhead related to the production of
engineering samples of new products under developoreproducts used solely in the research andldpweent process. Our customers
typically do not separately compensate us for eeaigd engineering work involved in developing apgtion-specific products for them. All
research and development costs are expensed aeohcWe anticipate that research and developmerrelitures will increase in future
periods as we seek to expand new product oppagganihcrease our activities related to new andrgimg markets and continue to develop
additional proprietary technologies.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expensesisbprimarily of employee salaries and related
costs, stock-based compensation, independentregliessentative commissions, professional servgresnotional and other selling and
marketing expenses, and occupancy and other aldocaterhead costs. A significant portion of oufisgleffort is directed at building
relationships with OEMs and other customers andimgrthrough the product approval and qualificatiwocess with them. Therefore, the ¢
of material and overhead related to products mantwfed for qualification is included in selling expses. As we continue to service existing
and establish new customers, we anticipate thasales and marketing expenses will increase.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated finahstatements in conformity with accounting prineggenerally accepted in the U.S. require
to make estimates and assumptions that affecefirted amounts of assets and liabilities and asecks of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdistie reported amounts of net sales and expensieg dhe reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tharent degree of uncertainty. We base our estgoateour historical experience, knowledge
of current conditions and our beliefs of what coodttur in the future considering available inforimat We review our estimates on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from thestneates, which may result in material adversectdfen our operating results and financial
position. We believe the following critical accoungt policies involve our more significant assumps@and estimates used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition.We recognize revenues in accordance with tharfeial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accaogt
Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingve recognize revenues when there is persuasience that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsdhes price is fixed or determinable, and colléldyof the resulting receivable is reasone
assured.
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We generally use customer purchase ordet®acontracts as evidence of an arrangementv@®gloccurs when goods are shipped for
customers with FOB Shipping Point terms and upaeipt for customers with FOB Destination termsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents agd tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. ¥éess whether the sales price is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms assoeiétethe transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess componeantaxies, which contain no right-of-return
privileges. Estimated returns are provided fohattime of sale based on historical experiencecific identification of an event necessitat
a reserve. We offer a standard product warranbutacustomers and have no other post-shipmentatiigs. We assess collectibility based on
the creditworthiness of the customer as determiryectedit checks and evaluations, as well as tiséoawer's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatedgiipping and handling are classified as net salbie all costs incurred by us for shipping and
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, aceqayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumethis. tban for certain investments in
auction rate securities, commercial paper and gbam corporate bonds, the fair value of our caghivalents and investments in marketable
securities is determined based on quoted pricastine markets for identical assets or Level 1 ispBecause of their short-term nature,
commercial paper and short-term corporate bondaa@réequently traded. Although there are obsdesghotes for these securities, the
markets are not considered active. Accordingly féirevalues of these investments are based onll2ewguts. The fair value of our auction
rate securities is determined based on Level 3tsaple recognize transfers between Levels 1 thr@ughthe fair value hierarchy at the
beginning of the reporting period. We believe tihat carrying values of all other financial instrurteeapproximate their current fair values due
to their nature and respective durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.We perform credit evaluations of our customi@nsgincial condition and limit the amount of credit
extended to our customers as deemed necessapgierally require no collateral. We evaluate thkectbility of accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In cases where wexasare of circumstances that may impair a specifstamer's ability to meet its financial
obligations subsequent to the original sale, wénedord an allowance against amounts due, aneétigeeduce the net recognized receivab
the amount that we reasonably believe will be ctdld. For all other customers, we record allowafeedoubtful accounts based primarily on
the length of time the receivables are past duedan the terms of the originating transaction,cimegent business environment and our
historical experience. Uncollectible accounts drarged against the allowance for doubtful accowmtsn all cost effective commercial means
of collection have been exhausted. Generally, ceditlosses have been within our expectationstl@grovisions established. However, we
cannot guarantee that we will continue to expegesredit loss rates similar to those we have egpedd in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly conetatt among a small number of customers, and disigmi change in the liquidity or financial
position of one of these customers could have amahidverse effect on the collectability of oacaunts receivable, our liquidity and our
future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of thieuakcost to purchase or manufacture the inverdothe net realizable value
of the inventory. Cost is determined on an averaxgt basis which approximates actual cost on tifirdirst-out basis and includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Ahdrdance sheet date, we evaluate ending invegtamgtities on hand and record a provit
for excess quantities and obsolescence. Among &dbtars, we consider
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historical demand and forecasted demand in relatighe inventory on hand, competitiveness of pobadferings, market conditions and
product life cycles when determining obsolescemukreet realizable value. In addition, we considenges in the market value of DRAM ICs
and NAND in determining the net realizable valueof raw material inventory. Once established, &ri{e downs are considered permanent
adjustments to the cost basis of our excess oletesioventories.

A significant decrease in demand for owduicts could result in an increase in the amoueioéss inventory quantities on hand. In
addition, our estimates of future product demang prave to be inaccurate, in which case we may liankerstated or overstated the provision
required for excess and obsolete inventory. Irfubére, if our inventories are determined to bergakied, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of sales at the tifrmich determination. Likewise, if our inventarigre determined to be undervalued, we may
have over-reported our costs of sales in previen®@s and would be required to recognize additignass profit at the time such inventories
are sold. In addition, should the market value BfAM ICs or NAND decrease significantly, we may leguired to lower our selling prices to
reflect the lower current cost of our raw materidfisuch price decreases reduce the net realizathle2 of our inventories to less than our cost,
we would be required to recognize additional expensur cost of sales in the same period. Althowghmake every reasonable effort to
ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of futureygbdemand, any significant unanticipated changekemand, technological developments or
the market value of DRAM ICs or NAND could have atarial effect on the value of our inventories and reported operating results.

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsWe evaluate the recoverability of the carryiadue of long-lived assets held and used in our
operations for impairment on at least an annuaklmswvhenever events or changes in circumstamecisate that their carrying value may not
be recoverable. When such factors and circumstasdsts we compare the projected undiscounted éutet cash flows associated with the
related asset or group of assets over their estimageful lives against their respective carryimgpant. These projected future cash flows may
vary significantly over time as a result of incredsompetition, changes in technology, fluctuationdemand, consolidation of our customers
and reductions in average selling prices. If theyirag value is determined not to be recoverabdenffuture operating cash flows, the asset is
deemed impaired and an impairment loss is recodriz¢he extent the carrying value exceeds thenastid fair value of the asset. The fair
value of the asset or asset group is based on make when available, or when unavailable, ocalisited expected cash flows.

Warranty Reserve. We offer product warranties generally rangiranf one to three years, depending on the produtheagotiated tern
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctanté&s require us to repair or replace defectioelpct returned to us during the warranty
period at no cost to the customer. Warranties at®ffiered on sales of excess inventory. Our esémor warranty-related costs are recorded
at the time of sale based on historical and estichatture product return rates and expected repagplacement costs. While such costs have
historically been consistent between periods anbivbur expectations and the provisions establisheexpected changes in failure rates
could have a material adverse impact on us, reguadditional warranty reserves, and adverselyctifg our gross profit and gross margins.

Stock-Based CompensationWe account for equity issuances to non-empleyreaccordance with ASC Topic 505. All transacsiam
which goods or services are the consideration veddior the issuance of equity instruments are atenl for based on the fair value of the
consideration received or the fair value of theiggustrument issued, whichever is more reliablgasurable. The measurement date used to
determine the fair value of the equity instrumestied is the earlier of the date on which the thady performance is complete or the date on
which it is probable that performance will occur.
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In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogiad director stock-based compensation expensenizeagduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the gebriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfseoations is based on awards ultimately expeitest, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituredbmestimated at the time of grant and revisededessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Our estidaaverage forfeiture rates are based on histdddaiture experience and estimated future
forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveat@ employees and directors is calculated usiadthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expattime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdaed dividends, all of which affect the estindafi&ir values of our common stock option
awards. The expected term of options granted @utztked as the average of the weighted vestinggend the contractual expiration date of
the option. This calculation is based on the safédr method permitted by the SEC in instances avtiex vesting and exercise terms of opt
granted meet certain conditions and where limitstbhical exercise data is available. The expeutgdtility is based on the historical volatility
of our common stock. The risk-free rate selectedhiae any particular grant is based on the U.8a3ury rate that corresponds to the expectec
term of the grant effective as of the date of theng The expected dividends assumption is basediohistory and our expectations regarding
dividend payouts. We evaluate the assumptions tasealue our common stock option awards on a qogrbasis. If factors change and we
employ different assumptions, stock-based comp&msakpense may differ significantly from what wevke recorded in prior periods.
Compensation expense for common stock option awaittisyraded vesting schedules is recognized dra@ght-line basis over the requisite
service period for the last separately vestingipordf the award, provided that the accumulated E=ognized as of any date at least equa
value of the vested portion of the award.

We recognize the fair value of restricteztk awards issued to employees and outside dieatstock-based compensation expense on :
straight-line basis over the vesting period forldet separately vesting portion of the awards: ¥alue is determined as the difference between
the closing price of our common stock on the goate and the purchase price of the restricted steeked, if any, reduced by expected
forfeitures.

If there are any modifications or cancélas of the underlying vested or unvested stocletasvards, we may be required to accelerate,
increase or cancel any remaining unearned stoakdba@mpensation expense, or record additional esepfem vested stock-based awards.
Future stock-based compensation expense and udestouk- based compensation may increase to tleatetkiat we grant additional common
stock options or other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogphio reflect the estimated future tax effectBibire deductible or taxable
amounts attributable to events that have been réped on a cumulative basis in the consolidateanfoial statements, calculated at enacted tax
rates for expected periods of realization. We radylreview our deferred tax assets for recoveitgtahd establish a valuation allowance, w
determined necessary, based on historical taxabterie, projected future taxable income, and the&beol timing of the reversals of existing
temporary differences. Because we have operatedoss for an extended period of time, we did Bobgnize tax deferred tax assets related to
losses incurred in 2009. Benefits recognized in020&re limited to those made available as a one-tianry-back through economic recovery
legislation. In the future, if we realize a defeftax asset that currently carries a valuationaaloce, we may record an income tax benefit or a
reduction to income tax expense in the period ohsealization.

35




Table of Contents

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghmdd and measurement requirement for the finastéément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andsition. Under ASC Topic 740 we may only recognize@ntinue to recognize tax positions
that meet a "more likely than not" threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulatimsubject to legal and factual interpretatiomigonent and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulat
themselves are subject to change as a result afjelan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, dvelution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from our esti@satwvhich could result in the need to record
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseegiously recorded tax liabilities.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consatied statements of operations as a percentagé séles for the years indicated:

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 74 84
Gross profi 26 16
Operating expense
Research and developmt 39 44
Selling, general and administrati 29 44
Total operating expens 68 88
Operating los: (42 (72
Other income (expense
Interest (expense) income, 1 — —
Other income, ne — —
Total other income, n¢ — —
Loss before income tax bene (42 (72
Income tax benef 2 2
Net loss (40)% (70)%

36




Table of Contents
Year Ended January 1, 2011 Compared to the Year &hdanuary 2, 2010
Net Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit.

The following table presents net salest obsales and gross profit for the years endedalgnl, 2011 and January 2, 2010 (in thousands,
except percentages):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2, %
2011 2010 Change Change
Net sales $ 37,858 $ 18,47¢ $ 19,37¢ 105%
Cost of sale! 27,91( 15,52: 12,38¢ 80%
Gross profil $ 994t $§ 2957 $ 6,98¢ 23€%
Gross margit 26.2% 16.(% 10.2%

Net Sales. Overall, net sales of our RAID battery-backed aattery-free, industrial and data center optaiapplications, and flash-
based products increased as a result of the seieafttiour memory modules for inclusion in new prodolatforms. Net sales in all product
categories have benefited from resurgence in téogpanvestment, as general economic conditionghanproved since early 2009. Should
economic conditions erode, positive sales trendgs moacontinue.

The increase in net sales for 2010 as cosdpaith 2009 resulted primarily from increasespproximately (i) $12.9 million in sales of
NVvault™ cache systems used in RAID controller sbsms, including $4.8 million from the launch o¥dault™ batter-free, the flash-
based cache system that became generally avaite®.0, (ii) $5.4 million in sales of memory modslutilized in data center targeted server
applications, and (iii) $1.0 million in sales od$h memory products offset by a decrease of $dl@mirom the resale of DRAM component

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. Gross profit for 2010 as compared to 2009 iasee due to the 105% increase in net sales betieen
two periods, resulting in increased profit conttibn from a higher number of units sold, as welaasmproved ability to absorb fixed
manufacturing costs. These volume based improveswegite partially offset by volume discounts andéased DRAM prices, which affected
margins in some product categories.

Research and Development.

The following table presents research amgetbpment expenses for the years ended Janua®i1,and January 2, 2010 (in thousands,
except percentages):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2, %
2011 2010 Change Change
Research and
developmen $ 14,762 $ 8,08: $ 6,67¢ 83%

The increase in research and developmer@rese in 2010 as compared to 2009 resulted priyrfaoiin increases of (i) $4.1 million in
engineering expenses as a result of an increas@ninecurring engineering charges and both inteenglneering headcount and outside
contractors engaged in new product developmentities, (i) $1.7 million in material expenses rteld to product builds and testing, primarily
related to our HyperCloud™ products and (iii) $t@ion in legal and professional fees as we inseshpatent filing and protection activities
related to new and emerging markets.
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Selling, General and Administrative.

The following table presents selling, gahand administrative expenses for the years eddedary 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2, %
2011 2010 Change Change
Selling, general ar
administrative $ 11,04 $ 8,30 $ 2,73¢ 33%

The increase in selling, general and adstriative expense in 2010 as compared to 2009 esspitmarily from increases of approximat
(i) $1.2 million in personnelelated expenses primarily attributable to hirirggonnel to support the development of marketsijgrerCloud ™
and NVvault™, (ii) $1.0 million in product samplard travel costs as a result of activities relaetthe OEM qualification process for
HyperCloud™ and NVvault™ battery-free, and (iii).$0nillion in commission expenses due to the ingeda net sales.

Other Income, Net.

The following table presents other incomet, for the years ended January 1, 2011 and Jagu2610 (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2, %
2011 2010 Change Change

Interest (expense

income, ne $ 42) $ 79 $ (121 (159)%
Other income, ne 71 25 46 184%
Total other income

net $ 29 % 104 $ (795 (72)%

Net interest expense for the year endedalari, 2011 was comprised of interest expens@mfoximately $0.09 million, partially offset
by interest income of approximately $0.05 millidtet interest income for the year ended Januar@ 20 2vas comprised of interest income of
approximately $0.2 million, partially offset by arest expense of approximately $0.08 million. Theerdase in interest income in the year
ended January 1, 2011, as compared to the yead dadeary 2, 2010, was due to a combination ofawer overall cash and investment
balances and the decrease in the yield earnedose tialances due to lower interest rates and islifvestment strategy. Interest expense in
2010 was comparable to expense incurred in 2008a\dsags from our lower average outstanding bakweoeour line of credit were offset by
interest expense on the $1.5 million term bank kban we received in the third quarter of 2010.

Other income, net, primarily includes gaamsl losses on foreign currency transactions ardigpositions of property and equipment in
2010 and 2009.

Income Tax Benefit.

The following table presents the benefitifcome taxes for the years ended January 1, @8dJanuary 2, 2010 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2, %
2011 2010 Change Change
Income tax bene:  $ (714) $ (412) $ (302 73%

The federal statutory rate was 35% for 2846 2009. In both 2010 and 2009 we continueddwige a full valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets, which consist primafihet
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operating loss carry-forwards. In 2010, our effextiax rate differed from the 35% statutory ratenarily due to the valuation allowance on
newly generated loss carry-forwards, offset byrdaization of $0.7 from a one-time carry-back ef operating losses allowed by economic
recovery legislation. For further discussion se¢eN®to the Consolidated Financial Statements dedun Part IV, Item 15 of this Report.

Included in the unrecognized tax benefitdamuary 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010 was appréeiyr0.1 million and $0.1 million,
respectively, of tax positions that, if recognizeauld affect our annual effective tax rate. Weusel our unrecognized tax benefits by
approximately $0.5 million during 2009 as a resdila lapse in a federal statute of limitationspitisg in an income tax benefit.

In 2008, we began operating under tax lghdn the PRC, which are effective from Januai@&ihrough December 2012. Since we
operated at a loss in the PRC in 2010 and 200%lidveot realize any benefit attributable to the hakdays.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operasigmimarily through issuances of equity and debustes and cash generated from operations.
We have also funded our operations with a revolliimg of credit and term loans under our bank dridilities, capitalized lease obligations,
financing of receivables and from the sale anddeask of our domestic manufacturing facility.

Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Matable Securities.

The following table presents working capitash and cash equivalents and investments iketedrle securities (in thousands):

January 1, January 2,

2011 2010
Working capital $ 17,60¢ $ 13,37¢
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1421C $ 9,947
Shor-term marketable securities( 824 3,94¢
Long-term marketable securiti 89C 941

$ 15,92« $ 14,83:

Q) Included in working capite

Our working capital increased in the yaadled January 1, 2011 primarily as a result of arei@ise in cash, cash equivalents and dbam-
investments in marketable securities of $1.1 millwising from debt and equity financing activitiead increases of $2.2 and $2.3 million in
accounts receivable and inventory, respectively gesult of our increase in net sales and quatifie and manufacturing activities. These
increases were offset by an increase in accouysbpaof $2.2 million due to the expansion of tradedit from our vendors and amounts due
for equipment purchases.
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Cash Provided and Used in the Years Ended Januar2d11 and January 2, 2010.

The following table summarizes our caskwfdor the periods indicated:

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Net cash provided by (used in)
Operating activitie! $ (15,409 $ (6,627
Investing activities 2,18( 1,44(C
Financing activitie: 17,49: (89
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

equivalents $ 4268 $ (5,279

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for tearyended January 1, 2011 was primarily the re$(l} a net loss of
approximately $15.1 million and (ii) approximaté.0 million in net cash used by changes in opegadssets and liabilities, primarily
accounts receivable and inventory offset by appnaxely $3.7 million in net non-cash operating exggesy mainly comprised of depreciation
and amortization and stock-based compensation.

Accounts receivable increased approximekl million at January 1, 2011 compared with dap2, 2010, primarily as a result of net
sales of $10.1 million in the fourth quarter of Radompared with $6.7 million in the fourth quareé€r2009. During 2010 and 2009, we were
successful in collecting cash from sales to outarusrs substantially in accordance with our stashg@@ayment terms to those customers.

Inventories increased approximately $2.Bioni during 2010 primarily as a result of the imased production levels necessary to produce
the higher levels of net sales we experienced 02thd due to qualification activities for our Hypeud™ product. In the future, our
inventory levels will continue to be determineddx®sn, among other factors, the level of customéers received and overall demand as well
as the stage at which our products are in thefrectsse life cycles and competitive situationshie tnarketplace. We make efforts to balance
such considerations against the risk of obsolegcengpotentially excess inventory levels.

Accounts payable, net of amounts due foperty and equipment purchases, increased apprdingl.9 million during 2010 primarily
as a result of increased production levels, expansi trade credit, and continued stringent cashagament.

Net cash used in operating activities far year ended January 2, 2010 was primarily thdtreba net loss of approximately $12.9 mill
offset by (i) approximately $3.6 million in net n@ash operating expenses, mainly comprised of degiren and amortization and stock-based
compensation, impairment of long-lived assets dipdproximately $2.7 million in net cash provided changes in operating assets and
liabilities.

Investing Activities. In 2010 and 2009, we continued to invest reinginet proceeds from our public offerings and detatncing in
various marketable securities investments in caimeavith our efforts to both preserve capital adlas achieve competitive returns on our
investments.

Net cash provided by investing activities the year ended January 1, 2011 was primarilyakelt of proceeds from the maturities and
sales of marketable securities of approximatel$ $5llion, partially offset by purchases of invesnts in marketable securities of
approximately $2.4 million. We also used approxieha$0.9 million in cash primarily to purchase gguent and leasehold improvements
related to our production facilities in the PRC anud research and development activities in Irvid&ljfornia.
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Net cash provided by investing activities the year ended January 2, 2010 was primarilyakelt of proceeds from the maturities and
sales of marketable securities of approximately. &biillion, partially offset by purchases of invegints in marketable securities of
approximately $13.9 million.

Financing Activities.

Net cash provided by financing activities foe year ended January 1, 2011 was primarily thdtresthe net

proceeds of $16.2 million from the sale of 4,598,88ares of our common stock in a registered puifiering, which closed on March 24,
2010, and the proceeds of a $1.5 million term loltained from Silicon Valley Bank, offset by repagmts of $0.3 million on the term loan ¢
capital lease obligations. In 2010 and 2009, wiézetl our lines of credit to fund short-term worginapital needs. Net cash used in financing
activities for the year ended January 2, 2010 Wwageésult of $0.6 million in debt repayment, offegt$0.5 million in proceeds from the
exercise of options to purchase our common stock.

Capital Resources.

On October 31, 2009, we entered into aitegpgeement with Silicon Valley Bank, which wasemmded on March 24, 2010, June 30, 2010
and September 30, 2010. Currently, the credit agee¢ provides for a line of credit pursuant to vbhiee can borrow up to the lesser of (i) €
of eligible accounts receivable, or (ii) $10.0 ioii. We have the option to increase credit avditglid $15.0 million at any time through the
maturity date of September 30, 2012, subject tatmalitions of the credit agreement.

The credit agreement contains an overdllimit of $10.0 million to collateralize our contient obligations under letters of credit, foreign
exchange contracts and cash management servicesimsmoutstanding under the overall sublimit redbheeamount available pursuant to the
credit agreement. At January 1, 2011, letters editin the amount of $2.9 million were outstandimgluding a $1.1 million letter of credit to

secure payment for future

shipments in connectith &$2.5 million commitment to purchase ASIC aes for use in our HyperCloud™

modules The letters of credit expire on variougsldiirough October 31, 2011.

Interest on the line of credit is payablemhly at either (i) prime plus 1.25%, as long a&smaintain $8.5 million in revolving credit
availability plus unrestricted cash on deposit With bank, or (i) prime plus 2.25%. Additionalthhe credit agreement requires payments fc
unused line, as well as anniversary and early tetian fees, as applicable.

The following table presents details ofstamding borrowings and availability under our lafecredit (in thousands):

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Outstanding borrowings on the line
credit $ — % —
Borrowing availability under the line
credit $ 2200 $ —
Prime rate 4.0(% 3.25%

Outstanding borrowings under the Silicorl&aBank line of credit did not exceed $1.0 mitliduring 2010 or 2009.

In addition, in connection with the Sept&mB0, 2010 amendment, Silicon Valley Bank exteral&d.5 million term loan under the credit
agreement, which bears interest at a rate of ppitne1.75%. We are required to make equal monthihcipal payments which total
$0.5 million annually, and a balloon payment ofgh@nillion at maturity. As of January 1, 2011, $ié#lion was outstanding under the term

loan.
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All obligations under the credit agreemarg secured by a first priority lien on our tangibhd intangible assets. The only restriction on
the use of funds under the revolving line of créglthat we must be in compliance with the covenaithe credit agreement. The credit
agreement includes affirmative and negative covisnamcluding financial covenants with respect tw kiquidity and tangible net worth. As of
January 1, 2011, we were in compliance with alifficial covenants and expect to maintain complidmcthe foreseeable future. However, we
have in the past been in violation of one or maresnants of other credit agreements, and we cdaldte one or more covenants in the future.
If we were to be in violation of covenants under oredit agreement, our lender could choose tolaxate payment on all outstanding loan
balances. If that were to occur, we may be unabtpiickly obtain equivalent or suitable replacenferdncing. If we were not able to secure
alternative sources of funding, such accelerationld’have a material adverse impact on our findrciadition.

We have in the past utilized equipmentiteaarrangements to finance certain capital exgarei. Equipment leases continue to be a
financing alternative that we expect to pursueéhnfuture.

We believe our existing cash balances,dvang availability under our bank credit facilitgnd the cash expected to be generated from
operations, will be sufficient to meet our antidgrhcash needs for at least the next 12 monthsfu@ure capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our levels of net sales,timing and extent of expenditures to supportaedeand development activities, the
expansion of manufacturing capacity both domesyi@aid internationally and the continued marketegtance of our products. We could be
required, or may choose, to seek additional funttimgugh public or private equity or debt finan@ngn addition, in connection with any futi
acquisitions, we may require additional funding ethinay be provided in the form of additional debéequity financing or a combination
thereof. These additional funds may not be avalalnl terms acceptable to us, or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

We do not have any relationships with ursodidated entities or financial partnerships, sastentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehlaeen established for the purpose of facilitatifipalance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In adiitiwe do not have any undisclosed borrowings bt,dad we have not entered into any
synthetic leases. We are, therefore, not materaposed to any financing, liquidity, market orditeisk that could arise if we had engaged in
such relationships.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accagnfitandards Update ("ASU") 2009-M.ltiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(@itaSU
2009-13"), which amends the revenue guidance uh8€r Topic 605, which describes the accounting fattiple element arrangements. ASU
2009413 addresses how to determine whether an arrangémveiving multiple deliverables contains morerhane unit of accounting and h
arrangement consideration shall be measured amchédld to the separate units of accounting in tfemgement. The adoption of ASU 2009-
on January 2, 2011 had no impact on our consolid&tancial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2ZDOTertain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softesmentg"ASU 2009-14"),
which excludes tangible products containing sofexamponents and non-software components thatifumictgether to deliver the product's
essential functionality from the scope of ASC Top85, which describes the accounting for softwaxenue recognition. ASU 2009-14 is
effective on a prospective basis for 2011, witHieaadoption permitted. The adoption of ASU 2008Beah January 2, 2011 had no impact on
our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The financial statements and supplemerdatg required by this item are included in Partite/n 15 of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accotemts on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the parttign of our management, including our principa@xtive officer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disctestontrols and procedures, as such term is definBdile 13at5(e) under the Exchange £
as of the end of the period covered by this ref@ated on this evaluation, our principal executiffecer and our principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proasiwere effective to provide reasonable assurdraténformation required to be disclosed
by us in reports we file or submit under the ExaeAct is recorded, processed, summarized andtegpasithin the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms, and is accumulated aminzinicated to our management, including our ppaloéxecutive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timelgaisions regarding required disclosures.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control divemncial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supeovisind with the participation of our managemerdiuding our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amlenation of the effectiveness of our internal coh@iver financial reporting as of January 1,
2011 based on the criteria set forthriternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrie
Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluationpmamagement concluded that our internal control &imancial reporting was effective as
of January 1, 2011.

This Annual Report does not include ansadtiion report of our independent registered puddimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management's report waissuibject to attestation by our independent reggst public accounting firm pursuant to the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissianpiianit us to provide only management's repothis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal abaiver financial reporting during the fourth guearof 2010 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intekeantrol over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well coweei and operated, can provide only reasonableabsilute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the benefitootrols must be considered relative to theitsdBecause of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can jg®wabsolute assurance that all control issuesrestances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include tladitres that judgments in decision making can hatyaand that breakdowns can occur bec
of simple errors. Additionally, controls
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can be circumvented by the individual acts of speesons, by collusion of two or more people, omgnagement override of the control. The
design of any system of controls is also basedihypon certain assumptions about the likelihdofditore events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achigtsrgfated goals under all potential future cdod&. Because of the inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements dwerar or fraud may occur and not be detected.

In addition, projections of any evaluatmfreffectiveness to future periods are subjectsksrthat controls may become inadequate be
of changes in conditions, or the degree of compéanith the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PART Il

Certain information required by this Pdkid omitted from this Annual Report as we exptectile our definitive Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regafafi4A of the Exchange Act not later than 120 deffer the end of the fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report, and certain information urd#d in the Proxy Statement is incorporated hdygireference.

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance

We incorporate by reference herein theigestentitled "Election Of Directors," "Board Ofiectors; Audit Committee Financial Expert"
And "Other Information—Section 16(a) Beneficial Osvship Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement

We have adopted a "Code of Business CorahatEthics" that applies to all employees, inalgdbur executive officers. A copy of the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted omternet site atvww.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to,antgr
any waivers of, a provision of the Code of Busin@ssduct and Ethics that applies to the principakeative officer, principal financial officer,
or principal accounting officer that requires distire under applicable rules promulgated undeB#wirities Act or Exchange Act, we intend
to disclose such amendment or waiver and the reabene for on our Internet site.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item isdmporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiExecutive Compensation" and "Directors'
Compensation” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficibfOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Métrs

The information required by this Item isamporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensatiom Rfarmation” in our Proxy Statement.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item isdmporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiCertain Relationships and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is@mporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiAuditors, Audit Fees and Auditor
Independence” in our Proxy Statement.
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Item 15.

@)

@)

PART IV

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(1) Allfinancial statements filed as part bistreport.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm F-2
Consolidated Balance She: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mahprehensive Los F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ F-6
(2) Exhibits
3.1(1) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netlistc.l
3.2(1) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, |
10.1(2)# Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plavetlist, Inc.
10.2(3)  Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and diast
10.5(4)# Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 daetWetlist, Inc. and Chun |
Hong.
10.£(5)# Form of Performance Incentive Agreement entereal igtNetlist, Inc. with each ¢
Christopher Lopes, Jayesh Bhakta and Paik Ki Hanuigust 2006
10.56)# Form of Amendment to Performance Incentiveekgnent entered into by Netlist, Inc.
with each of Christopher Lopes, Jayesh Bhakta ailkd & Hong in September 200
10.€(7)# 2006 Equity Incentive Plan of Netlist, Ir
10.%(8)# Form of Restricted Stock Award issued pursuanhéc2006 Equity Incentive Plan
Netlist, Inc.
10.£(9)# Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plavetlist, Inc.
10.¢(10)# Stock Option Agreement dated July 1, 2009 for oxtito purchase 50,000 shares of
Registrant's common stock awarded to Paul Dt
10.1((11)# Stock Option Agreement dated December 16, 2008gtons to purchase 50,000 she
of the Registrant's common stock awarded to Johall&r
10.13(12)# Stock Option Agreement dated January 4, 2010 faoopto purchase 100,000 share:

10.1(13)#

10.15(14)#

10.14(15)

the Registrant's common stock awarded to Steve deC

Stock Option Agreement dated June 8, 2010 for aptto purchase 75,000 shares of
Registrant's common stock awarded to Nickie Dus

Stock Option Agreement dated June 8, 2010 for aptto purchase 30,000 shares of
Registrant's common stock awarded to Lisa Rc

Lease (Multi-Tenant; Net), dated April 2, 200y and between The Irvine

Company LLC, a Delaware limited liability comparmand Netlist, Inc., a Delaware
corporation.
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10.15(16)

10.1€(17)

10.17(18)

10.1£(19)

10.1¢(20)*

10.2((20)*

10.23(20)*

10.24(20)*

10.25(20)*

10.24(20)*

10.25(20)*

10.26(20)*

10.21(20)*

10.2¢(21)*
21.122)
23(22)
24.1(22)

31.122)

31.5(22)

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Gxt8th, 2009, between Silicon Valley
Bank, a California corporation, and Netlist, IlSubordination Agreement, dated as of
October 31, 2009, between Silicon Valley Bank, &f@aia corporation, Netlist, Inc.,
and Netlist Technology Texas, L.P., a Texas limgadnership; Security Agreement
entered into as of October 31, 2009 between, Silicalley Bank and Netlist Technolo
Texas LP, a Texas limited partnership; and Int&ll@icProperty Security Agreement
entered into as of October 31, 2009 by and betv&#&on Valley Bank and Netlist, Ini

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into adayth 24, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, In

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of 30n2010, by and between Silic
Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into &eptember 30, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, In

Design and Production Agreement relating egRter ASIC (the "Production Register
Agreement"), dated July 31, 2008, by and betwesdtididnc. and Toshiba America
Electronic Components, Inc. ("Toshiba

Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreendated May 22, 2009, by ai
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshit

Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreendated January 28, 2010, by ¢
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshit

Amendment #2 to the Production Register Agreendated March 10, 2010, by a
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshit

Design and Production Agreement relatingDoASIC (the "Production ID Agreement"),
dated July 31, 2008, by and between Netlist, Ind. Boshiba

Amendment #1 to the Production ID Agreement, ddtetuary 28, 2010, by and betwe
Netlist, Inc. and Toshib:

Amendment #2 to the Production ID Agreemelatted March 10, 2010, by and between
Netlist, Inc. and Toshib:

Development and Supply Agreement, dated &eptember 10, 2008, by and between
Netlist, Inc. and Diablo Technologies, Inc. ("Diabl

Settlement Agreement and Amendment to Develapt and Supply Agreement, dated
January 12, 2010, between Netlist, Inc. and Die

ASIC Design and Production Agreement between Ojil@o8, Inc. and Netlist, Inc
Subsidiaries of Netlist, Int

Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LL|

Power of Attorney (included on the signature pagthis Part IV of this report

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Redic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or
Rule 15¢-15(e).

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Redic Report Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) or
Rule 15¢-15(e).
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32(22) Certification by Chief Executive Officer andhi€f Financial Officer of Periodic Report

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13

oY)

@)

3)

(4)

®)

(6)

)

®)

(9)

(10)

11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

Incorporated by reference to the correspondingtetxhumber of the registration statement on Forth@&-the registrant
(No. 333-136735) filed with the Securities and Exegge Commission on October 23, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.7 of thgistation statement on Form S-1 of the regist(iiot 333136735) filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on iezgt@3, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.12 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfidnt 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiomagust 18, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.13 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfidnt 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorSeptember 27, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.14 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfldot 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiorSeptember 27, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.15 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfidnt 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorseptember 27, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.16 of thgistration statement on Form S-1 of the registfidnt 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissinrOatober 23, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 of thesigtion statement on Form S-8 of the registraiat. (333-161834) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission oneBeiper 10, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 of thastgtion statement on Form S-8 of the registralut 333-163991) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on iéee 23, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 of thastgtion statement on Form S-8 of the registralut (333-164261) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onagri, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.4 of thesigtion statement on Form S-8 of the registraiat. (333-168330) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 2a)y2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.5 of thastgtion statement on Form S-8 of the registralut (333-168330) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 2@/y2010.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 18d ¥0.2 of the current report on Form 8-K of thgistrant filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Ap2i08,7.

Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10012, 10.3 and 10.4 of the current report on Forkh @ the registrant
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiniNovember 2, 200¢
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(b)

(17) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant fileith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2010.

(18) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2010.

(19) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on November 16, 2010.

(20) Incorporated by reference to exhibits 10.3 - 1@flthe quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the reg@istrfiled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Novembe2dH).

(21) Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.2 of thartgrly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant filgith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 17, 2010.

(22) Filed herewith.

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

* Confidential treatment has been granted or reqdesith respect to portions of this exhibit pursuemRule 24b-2 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and these confidgmbrtions have been redacted from the filing thancorporated by
reference. A complete copy of this exhibit, inchglthe redacted terms, has been separately filddthhé Securities and
Exchange Commissiol

Exhibits

See subsection (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: March 3, 2011

NETLIST, INC.

By: /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer a
Chairman of the Boar:

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ites indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ CHUN K. HONG President, Chief Executive Officer March 3
and Chairman of the Board (Principal 2011 '
Chun K. Honc Executive Officer,
Is/ GAIL SASAKI Vice President and Chief Financial March 3
) - Officer (Principal Financial Officer 2011
Gail Sasaki and Principal Accounting Office
/s/ RICHARD J. CHAR _ March 3,
Director 2011
Richard J. Cha
/s NAM KI HONG _ March 3,
Director 2011
Nam Ki Hong
/sl THOMAS F. LAGATTA
. March 3,
Director 2011
Thomas F. Lagatt
/s/ ALAN H. PORTNOY _ March 3,
Director 2011

Alan H. Portnoy
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conse@ibatlance sheets of Netlist, Inc. and subsididties"Company") as of January 1, 2011 and
January 2, 2010, and the related consolidatednséates of operations, stockholders' equity and cehmgmsive loss and cash flows for the years
then ended. These consolidated financial statenaeatthe responsibility of the Company's managent@umt responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statemeasged on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are free
of material misstatement. The Company is not reglio have, nor were we engaged to perform, art andis internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thigpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveinéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit includes examining, on a tesib, evidence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesiefah audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbeeresolidated financial statement presentatioe. Welieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial
position of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries as afulry 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010, and the cordetidesults of their operations and their ¢
flows for the years then ended, in conformity wattcounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates of America.

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 3, 2011

F-2




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivale $ 14,21C $ 9,94
Investments in marketable securit 824 3,94¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $67 (201
and $37 (2009 6,451 4,27:
Inventories 4,50¢ 2,23.
Prepaid expenses and other current a 1,39¢ 854
Total current asse 27,39( 21,25(
Property and equipment, r 4,07 4,77¢
Long-term investments in marketable securi 89C 941
Other asset 337 221
Total asset $ 32,69« $ 27,19
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 6,25¢ $ 4,05i
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢ 1,762 1,70¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 454 1,231
Accrued engineering charg 63€ 661
Current portion of lon-term deb! 674 10¢
Current portion of deferred gain on sale and leaslefransactiol — 10¢
Total current liabilities 9,78¢ 7,871
Long-term debt, net of current portic 1,06: 51
Total liabilities 10,847 7,92:
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value—10,000 sharé®ered; no shares
issued and outstandit — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value—90,000 shares an#thr25,284
(2010) and 20,111 (2009) shares issued and outstp 25 20
Additional paic-in capital 89,07« 71,33
Accumulated defici (67,14 (52,02¢)
Accumulated other comprehensive | (111) (57)
Total stockholders' equi 21,84 19,26¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 32,69« $ 27,19

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.

F-3




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Net sales $ 37,855 $ 18,47¢
Cost of sales(1 27,91( 15,52:
Gross profi 9,94¢ 2,951
Operating expense

Research and development 14,76: 8,08:

Selling, general and administrative 11,04 8,30:

Total operating expens 25,80z 16,38¢

Operating los: (15,859 (13,429
Other income (expense

Interest (expense) income, 1 (42 79

Other income, ne 1 25

Total other income, n¢ 29 104

Loss before income tax bene (15,829 (13,325
Income tax benef (714 (412)
Net loss $ (15119 $ (12,919
Net loss per common sha

Basic and dilutet $ (069 $ (0.6
Weighte-average common shares outstand

Basic and dilutes 23,77¢ 19,87¢
(1)  Amounts include stock-based compensation expenf#less:

Cost of sale: $ 42 $ 224
Research and developmt 357 301
Selling, general and administrati 1,08: 96(

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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Balance,
January 3,
2009

Stocl-basec
compensatic
Exercise of
stock options
Components o
comprehens
loss:
Change in ne!
unrealized
loss on
investment
Net loss

Comprehensiv:
loss

Balance,
January 2,
2010

Stoclk-basec
compensatic
Exercise of
stock option:
Repurchase of
common
stock
Exercise of
warrants
Issuance o
common
stock
Components @
comprehens
loss:
Change in ne
unrealized
loss on
investment:
Net loss

Comprehensiv:
loss
Balance,

January 1,
2011

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity an@omprehensive Loss

Series A
Preferred Additional Ao e Total
Stock Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity
— 3 19,85t $ 20 $ 69,38! $ (39,119 $ (56)$ 30,23«
— — — 148t — — 1,48t
— 25€ — 464 — — 464
— - = = — (2) (1)
— — — — (12,919 — (12,919
— — — — — — (12,919
— 20,11: 20 71,33 (52,026 (57) 19,26¢
— 49¢ — 1,482 — — 1,482
— 84 — 81 — — 81
— (16) — (49 — — (49
— 18 — 23 — — 23
— 4,59 5 16,20¢ — — 16,21(
— - = — — (54) (54)
— — — —  (1511Y) — (15,115
— — — — — — (15,169
— $ 2528:$ 25% 89,07« $ (67,14)% (111)$ 21,84

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (15,119 $ (12,919
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,281 2,261
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselesisactior (20¢) (11¢)
Provision for bad debt 35 —
Gain on disposal of ass¢ — (11)
Stoclk-based compensatic 1,482 1,48¢
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl (2,213 (2,356
Inventories (2,277) (403)
Income taxes receivab — 1,88(
Prepaid expenses and other current a (542 (93
Other asset (11€) 13
Accounts payabl 1,907 2,111
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢ 56 1,70¢
Accured expenses and other current liabili (777) (852)
Accrued engineering charg (23) 661
Net cash used in operating activit (15,409 (6,627
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme (942) (173
Proceeds from sales of equipm — 34t
Purchase of investments in marketable secul (2,395 (13,909
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmentsarketable¢
securities 5,517 15,17(
Net cash provided by investing activiti 2,18C 1,44(
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings on lines of cred 4,00( 12,78¢
Payments on lines of crec (4,000 (12,789
Proceeds from public offering, n 16,21( —
Payments on del (273 (559)
Proceeds of bank term lo. 1,50(C —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and wasyaet of repurchas: 55 464
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 17,49: (89
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 4,26¢ (5,272
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 9,94% 15,21«
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 1421C $ 9,947

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

January 1, 2011
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the "Company" or "Netlistlesigns and manufactures high performance, loggedbanemory subsystems for the datacenter
server and high performance computing and commtioitmmarkets. The Company's memory subsystemsstafisombinations of dynamic
random access memory integrated circuits ("DRAM'I@s'DRAM"), NAND flash memory ("NAND"), applicatin-specific integrated circui
("ASICs") and other components assembled on pricitedit boards ("PCBs"). Netlist primarily marketad sells its products to leading
original equipment manufacturer ("OEM") customdrise Company's solutions are targeted at applicatidmere memory plays a key role in
meeting system performance requirements. The Coynipaarages a portfolio of proprietary technologies design techniques, including
efficient planar design, alternative packaging téghes and custom semiconductor logic, to delivemory subsystems with high memory
density, small form factor, high signal integrigtiractive thermal characteristics and low costier

Netlist was incorporated in June 2000 anlgeadquartered in Irvine, California. In 2007, @@mpany established a manufacturing facility
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), mHiecame operational in July 2007 upon the suaglegsélification of certain key
customers.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiaiestents have been prepared in accordance with atiegprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America ("U.S.").

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly edrsubsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consaitat

Fiscal Year

The Company operates under a 52/53-weed8llfigar ending on the Saturday closest to DecefSthefhe 2010 and 2009 fiscal years
ended on January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010 ctespe. Fiscal years 2010 and 2009 each consist&@ weeks.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 2009 financial stegets have been reclassified to conform to theeatizrear presentation.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally epted in the U.S. requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and diseséicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the condensed consolidated financial set¢snand the reported amounts of net sales arehs&p during the reporting period. By tt
nature, these estimates and assumptions are stdpttinherent degree of uncertainty. Significesttimates made by management include,
among others, provisions for
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

uncollectible receivables and sales returns, waytgabilities, valuation of inventories, fair vawof financial instruments, impairment of long-
lived assets, stock-based compensation expensealiwhtion of deferred tax assets. The Compangd#s estimates on historical experience,
knowledge of current conditions and our beliefsvbfit could occur in the future considering avaiabformation. The Company reviews its
estimates on an on-going basis. The actual resytsrienced by the Company may differ materiallgt adversely from its estimates. To the
extent there are material differences betweenghimates and the actual results, future resultgpefations will be affected.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues primarily consigirofluct sales of high performance memory subsysteroriginal equipment manufacturers
("OEMs"). Revenues also include sales of excesanitories to distributors and other users of menmtggrated circuits ("ICs"), totaling less
than 1% of net revenues in 2010 and approximat#y#finet revenues in 2009.

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the Financial Accounting Standards BoaFASB") Accounting Standards
Cadification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingly, the @gpany recognizes revenues when there is persuagidence that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsdtes price is fixed or determinable, and colld@idjof the resulting receivable is reasone
assured.

The Company generally uses customer puecbiaters and/or contracts as evidence of an amaefe Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped for customers with FOB Shipping Point teemd upon receipt for customers with FOB Destimateyms, at which time title and risk
of loss transfer to the customer. Shipping documearg used to verify delivery and customer accegtafhe Company assesses whether the
sales price is fixed or determinable based on #yenent terms associated with the transaction aretheh the sales price is subject to refund.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsettirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of excesgponent inventories, which contain no
right-of-return privileges. Estimated returns arevided for at the time of sale based on historéoglerience or specific identification of an
event necessitating a reserve. The Company offstanalard product warranty to our customers anchbaher posshipment obligations. Tt
Company assesses collectibility based on the eveditiness of the customer as determined by cobditks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relateghipping and handling are classified as revenubasewll costs incurred by the Company for
shipping and handling are classified as cost @&fssal

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cadlslaort-term investments with original maturittéghree months or less, other than short-term
investments in securities that lack an active ntarke

Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its investmentaanketable securities in accordance with ASC T8gi@¢. The Company determines the
appropriate classification of its investments attilme of purchase and reevaluates such desigredtieach balance sheet date. The Company's
investments in
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

marketable securities have been classified anduated for as available-for-sale based on managesriamestment intentions relating to these
securities. Available-for-sale securities are statefair value, and are generally based on maypketes, to the extent they are available.
Unrealized gains and losses, net of applicablercefdaxes, are recorded as a component of otimeprehensive income (loss). Realized gains
and losses and declines in value judged to be tihertemporary are determined based on the spétéintification method and are reportet
other income, net in the consolidated statementgpefations.

The Company generally invests its excesh aadomestic banissued certificates of deposit which carry fedeegosit insurance, mon
market funds and in highly liquid debt instrumeofd).S. municipalities, corporations and the U.@vgrnment and its agencies. All highly
liquid investments with stated maturities of threenths or less from the date of purchase are @iledsis cash equivalents; all investments
stated maturities of greater than three monthslassified as investments in marketable securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's financial instruments coristcipally of cash and cash equivalents, investi:ien marketable securities, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensesedmhihstruments. Other than for certain investsi@nauction rate securities, commercial
paper and short-term corporate bonds (see Notbeljair value of the Company's cash equivalentsiavestments in marketable securities is
determined based on quoted prices in active maf@etdentical assets or Level 1 inputs. Becaustheif short-term nature, commercial paper
and short-term corporate bonds are not frequergtjetd. Although there are observable quotes faetsecurities, the markets are not
considered active. Accordingly, the fair valuedhafse investments are based on Level 2 inputsfaihealue of our auction rate securities is
based on Level 3 inputs. Level 3 inputs are unofadse inputs used to estimate the fair value oétassr liabilities and are utilized to the ext
observable inputs are not available. The Compatygmizes transfers between Levels 1 through 3eofdlr value hierarchy at the beginning
the reporting period. The Company believes thattreying values of all other financial instrumeaggproximate their current fair values du
their nature and respective durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectibilityaotounts receivable based on a combination obifacin cases where the Company is awa
circumstances that may impair a specific custonadility to meet its financial obligations subsequ the original sale, the Company will
record an allowance against amounts due, and theeelice the net recognized receivable to the atrtberCompany reasonably believes will
be collected. For all other customers, the Compangrds allowances for doubtful accounts basedapiiynon the length of time the
receivables are past due based on the terms ofitfieating transaction, the current business emvirent and its historical experience.
Uncollectible accounts are charged against thevalhae for doubtful accounts when all cost effectiwenmercial means of collection have
been exhausted.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to significant concentrations eflitrrisk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in marketable securitied,accounts receivable.

The Company invests its cash equivalentsgrily in money market mutual funds. Cash equimtdeare maintained with high quality
institutions, the composition and maturities of @thare regularly monitored by management. The Compad $0.4 million of FDIC insured
cash and cash equivalents at January 1, 2011 .tingats in marketable securities are generally gh{gredit quality debt instruments. Such
investments are made only in instruments issuashbanced by higlyuality institutions. The Company has not realiaeg credit losses relat
to these investments.

The Company's trade accounts receivablerarerily derived from sales to OEMs in the congruhdustry. The Company performs
credit evaluations of its customers' financial dtod and limits the amount of credit extended wideemed necessary, but generally requires
no collateral. The Company believes that the comagan of credit risk in its trade receivablesrisderated by its credit evaluation process,
relatively short collection terms and the high lesecredit worthiness of its customers. Resernresnaaintained for potential credit losses, and
such losses historically have not been signifieemat have been within management's expectations.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of attwst to purchase or manufacture the inventoth®mnet realizable value of the inventory. Cost
is determined on an average cost basis which appabes actual cost on a first-in, first-out basigl éncludes raw materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead. At each balance sheet &€ ompany evaluates its ending inventory quastdn hand and on order and records a
provision for excess quantities and obsolesceno®m other factors, the Company considers histodiemnand and forecasted demand in
relation to the inventory on hand, competitivenafsgroduct offerings, market conditions and prodifetcycles when determining
obsolescence and net realizable value. In addititnCompany considers changes in the market wdloemponents in determining the net
realizable value of its inventory. Provisions aradm to reduce excess or obsolete inventories todbmated net realizable values. Once
established, write-downs are considered permargastments to the cost basis of the excess or etesimiventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded atarubtdepreciated on a straight-line basis over gstimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to seven years. Leasehold improvemeatsegorded at cost and amortized on a straightHasis over the shorter of their estimated
useful lives or the remaining lease term.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitthefcarrying value of long-lived assets held aselduby the Company for impairment on at
least an annual basis or whenever events or chamg@sumstances indicate that their carrying eatoay not be recoverable. When such
factors and
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

circumstances exist, the Company compares theqteojeindiscounted future net cash flows associaittdthe related asset or group of assets
over their estimated useful lives against theipeesive carrying amount. If the carrying value &atmined not to be recoverable from future
operating cash flows, the asset is deemed impainddan impairment loss is recognized to the exttentarrying value exceeds the estimated
fair value of the asset. The fair value of the esasset group is based on market value whetad@j or when unavailable, on discounted
expected cash flows. The Company's managementeslibere is no impairment of long-lived assetsfalanuary 1, 2011. There can be no
assurance, however, that market conditions willanainge or demand for the Company's products wiitinue, which could result in future
impairment of long-lived assets.

Warranty Reserve

The Company offers product warranties galheranging from one to three years, dependingherproduct and negotiated terms of the
purchase agreements with customers. Such warraatiege the Company to repair or replace defeqireeluct returned to the Company
during such warranty period at no cost to the gusto Warranties are not offered on sales of exiceentory. The Company records an
estimate for warranty-related costs at the timgadé based on its historical and estimated progiictn rates and expected repair or
replacement costs (see Note 3). Such costs haweitddly been within management's expectationsthegrovisions established.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuance®mh-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 50btransactions in which goods or
services are the consideration received for theaisse of equity instruments are accounted for bandtie fair value of the consideration
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable. mbasurement date used to determine the
fair value of the equity instrument issued is thdier of the date on which the third-party perfamoe is complete or the date on which it is
probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogied director stock-based compensation expensemazeatduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfzesations is based on awards ultimately expette@st, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituredbmestimated at the time of grant and revisededessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Compmestimated average forfeiture rates are basdiistorical forfeiture experience and
estimated future forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveatim employees and directors is calculated usied@tack-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expttime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdated dividends, all of which affect the estindaf@r values of the Company's common
stock option awards. The expected term of optigaatgd is calculated as the average of the weighgsting period and the contractual
expiration date of the option. This calculatiomé&sed on the safe harbor method permitted by ti@igihstances where the vesting and
exercise terms of options granted meet certainitiond and where limited historical exercise datavailable. The
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

expected volatility is based on the historical tititg of the Company's common stock. The riske rate selected to value any particular gre
based on the U.S. Treasury rate that correspontti® texpected term of the grant effective as ofdde of the grant. The expected dividend
assumption is based on the Company's history amagesment's expectation regarding dividend pay@dmpensation expense for common
stock option awards with graded vesting schedslesedognized on a straight-line basis over theisgguservice period for the last separately
vesting portion of the award, provided that theuacglated cost recognized as of any date at leasti®the value of the vested portion of the
award.

The Company recognizes the fair value sfrigted stock awards issued to employees anddmuthiectors as stock-based compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the vest@mipg for the last separately vesting portion &f #lwards. Fair value is determined as the
difference between the closing price of our commsimrtk on the grant date and the purchase prideeofetstricted stock award, if any, reduced
by expected forfeitures.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@geized to reflect the estimated future tax effeftiuture deductible or taxable amounts
attributable to events that have been recognizeal @mulative basis in the consolidated finanditesnents, calculated at enacted tax rates for
expected periods of realization. A valuation alloggrelated to a net deferred tax asset is recavtied it is more likely than not that some
portion of the deferred tax asset will not be 1zl

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghméd and measurement requirement for the finastéément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andditian. Under ASC Topic 740 the Company may onbjognize or continue to recognize tax
positions that meet a "more likely than not" thiddh

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expendituresxaensed in the period incurred.
Collaborative Arrangement

The Company has entered into a collabaragivangement with a partner in order to develogpets using certain of the Company's
proprietary technology. Under the arrangementgdinelopment partner was granted a non-exclusieasie to specified intellectual property.
Both the Company and the development partner pealvithd continue to provide engineering project rgameent resources at their own
expense. The development partner is entitled teraouarring engineering fees based upon the achiemeof development milestones, and to a
minimum portion of the Company's purchasing allmeet for the component. Non-inventory expensesriecliand paid to the development
partner are included in research and developmgmerese in the accompanying consolidated stateménizeoations.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Comprehensive Loss

ASC Topic 220 establishes standards foontey and displaying comprehensive income (lossl) iss components in the consolidated
financial statements. Accumulated other comprelvenisiss includes unrealized gains or losses orsinvents.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company's operations in the PRC argesuto various political, geographical and ecoronisks and uncertainties inherent to
conducting business in the PRC. These includeatauhot limited to, (i) potential changes in ecoimoonditions in the region, (ii) managing a
local workforce that may subject the Company toeutainties or certain regulatory policies, (iiijastges in other policies of the Chinese
governmental and regulatory agencies, and (iv) gbain the laws and policies of the U.S. governmegirding the conduct of business in
foreign countries, generally, or in the PRC, intjgatar. Additionally, the Chinese government coigrthe procedures by which its local
currency, the Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), is convdriteto other currencies and by which dividends rnayleclared or capital distributed for
the purpose of repatriation of earnings and invests If restrictions in the conversion of RMB prthe repatriation of earnings and
investments through dividend and capital distritmitiestrictions are instituted, the Company's dp®ra and operating results may be
negatively impacted. Restricted net assets of vbsidiary in the PRC totaled $2.0 million and $&iflion at January 1, 2011 and January 2,
2010, respectively.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Companyi®ign subsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Local currefiopncial statements are remeasured into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect ab@bialance sheet date for monetary assets anlitigsband the historical exchange rate for
nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Expenses aneasured using the average exchange rate for thoglpexcept items related to nonmonetary
assets and liabilities, which are remeasured usistgrical exchange rates. All remeasurement gaiaslosses are included in determining net
loss.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculatedibigidg net loss by the weighted-average commomeshautstanding during the year, excluding
unvested shares issued pursuant to restricted aharels under the Company's share-based compenpéits. Diluted net loss per share is
calculated by dividing the net loss by the weightwdrage shares and dilutive potential common shautstanding during the year. Dilutive
potential shares consist of dilutive shares issuapbn the exercise or vesting of outstanding stmtions and restricted stock awards,
respectively, and the exercise of warrants, contpusing the treasury stock method. In periods sdés, basic and diluted loss per share ai
same, as the effect of stock options, unvestedat=st share awards and warrants on loss per &hargi-dilutive.
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accagnfitandards Update ("ASU") 2009-M.ltiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(@itaSU
2009-13"), which amends the revenue guidance uh8€r Topic 605, which describes the accounting fattiple element arrangements. ASU
2009413 addresses how to determine whether an arrangémeiving multiple deliverables contains morerhane unit of accounting and h
arrangement consideration shall be measured anchédld to the separate units of accounting in tfemgement. The adoption of ASU 2009-
on January 2, 2011 had no impact on the Compaogsotidated financial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2ZDOTertain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softementg"ASU 2009-14"),
which excludes tangible products containing sofexamponents and non-software components thatifumictgether to deliver the product's
essential functionality from the scope of ASC Top85, which describes the accounting for softwaxenue recognition. ASU 2009-14 is
effective on a prospective basis for 2011, witHieaadoption permitted. The adoption of ASU 2008Beh January 2, 2011 had no impact on
the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (irotisands):

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Raw material $ 2631 % 997
Work in proces: 171 342
Finished good 1,707 89:<

$ 450¢ $ 2,232
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January 1, 2011
Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foilg (dollars in thousands):

Estimated January 1, January 2,
Useful Lives 2011 2010
Machinery and equipme| 3-7yrs. $ 759 $ 6,85¢
Leasehold improvemen * 1,79¢ 1,79t
Furniture and fixture 5yrs. 457 457
Computer equipment and
software 3-7yrs. 3,09¢ 2,55¢
12,94¢ 11,66¢
Less accumulated
depreciation and
amortization (8,86¢) (6,88%)
$ 4071 $ 4,77¢
* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years, orrdaining lease term, whichever is shor

Included in property and equipment are tasseder capital leases with a cost of approxirga#8l6 million and $0.5 million and
accumulated amortization of approximately $0.1igrilland $0.3 million at January 1, 2011 and Jan@aB010, respectively. Amortization of
assets recorded under capital leases is includadasponent of depreciation and amortization es@en

In 2009, the Company was unable to sethgeassets that were classified as held for salé recorded an abandonment charge of
approximately $0.1 million, included as a comporefrgelling, general and administrative expenséénaccompanying consolidated statement

of operations.

Warranty Liability

The following table summarizes the activityated to the warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Beginning balanc $ 24C % 271
Charged to costs and expen 271 191
Usage (319 (22¢)
Ending balanci $ 194 % 24C

The warranty liability is included as a qmonent of accrued expenses and other currentitiabiin the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets.

Facility Relocation Costs

As a result of the relocation of the Compsalomestic headquarters and manufacturing faciliting the third quarter of 2007, the

Company vacated its previous manufacturing facilitiye
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)

Company subleased this facility, but remained aitéd under a noncancellable operating lease thragkmber 2010. In accordance with
ASC Topic 420, the Company recorded a net chardeaated liability of approximately $134,000 in®@Q which approximated the estimated
fair value of the net remaining lease paymentghAtconclusion of the master lease and subleases téhe Company determined that its
estimates regarding the net remaining lease paynesceeded its actual liability by approximatel\3E&®0. Accordingly, the excess accrual
was reversed.

In May 2009, the Company entered into aea@gent to sublease a portion of its new domestduarters facility to another tenant at a
discount from the rent required under its leaserndment. As a result, the Company recorded an exidit charge of approximately $61,000.
In February 2010, the sublessor vacated the spatdé bhad subleased. The Company determinedhbatace could be used in its operations.
As a result, the Company reversed approximatelyORBof its accrual for facility relocation costs.

The expenses and reversal of accrualsibescabove are included as a component of selfjageral and administrative expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatidresrelated liability is included as a compondraarrued expenses and other current
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated batashbeet as of January 2, 2010.

The following table summarizes the actiatyd liability balance related to the facility reédion costs recorded for the periods indicate
thousands):

Liability balance, January 3, 20i $ 80
Charged to costs and expen 61
Net payment: (57)
Liability balance, January 2, 20: 84
Charged to costs and expen (62)
Net payment: (23
Liability balance, January 1, 20: $ —

Comprehensive Loss

The components of comprehensive loss, fietxes, consist of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Net loss $ (15,119 $ (12,919
Other comprehensive los
Change in net unrealized loss on

investment: (59) @

Total comprehensive lo: $ (15,169 $ (12,919

Accumulated other comprehensive loss reftbon the consolidated balance sheets at Januafil and January 2, 2010 represents
accumulated net unrealized losses on investmemsiketable securities.
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Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the compiatatof basic and diluted net loss per share, inolgithe reconciliation of the numerator and
denominator used in the calculation of basic ahdetl net loss per share (in thousands, excephzee data):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Basic and diluted net loss per share
Numerator: Net los $ (15,119 $ (12,919

Denominator: Weighte-average
common shares outstanding, basi
and dilutec 23,77¢ 19,87¢

Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (069 $ (0.65)

The following table sets forth potentiadljutive common share equivalents, consisting afreh issuable upon the exercise or vesting of
outstanding stock options and restricted stock dsyaespectively, and the exercise of warrants puted using the treasury stock method.
These potential common shares have been excludedtfre diluted net loss per share calculations alaevtheir effect would be anti-dilutive

for the years then ended (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Common share equivaler 1,94¢ 1,13:

The above common share equivalents woulé baen included in the calculation of diluted @sge per share had the Company reported
net income for the years then ended.
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)
Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemenmliatlosures of cash flow information and non-dasiesting and financing activities (in
thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow
information:
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest $ 9% $ 73
Cash received during the year f
Income taxe! $ 71§ 2,37C
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash
investing and financing acitivie
Purchase of equipment through
capitalized lease obligatiol $ 351 $ 10¢
Purchase of equipment not paid fc
at the end of the ye: $ 29z % 16C
Unrealized losses from investmen
in marketable securitie $ 54 % 1

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

The following tables detail the fair valoeeasurements within the fair value hierarchy ofGleenpany's investments in marketable
securities (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at January 1, 2011 Usin

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 1, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Available-for-sale debt
securities
Money market mutual func  $ 12,65¢ $ 12,65« $ — 3 —
Corporate notes and bon 824 — 824 —
Auction and variable floatin
rate note: 89C — — 89C
Total $ 14,36¢ $ 12,65 $ 824 $ 89C
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Note 4—Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements at January 2, 2010 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 2, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Available-for-sale deb
securities
Money market mutual func  $ 7,347 $ 7,347 $ — $ —
Obligations of the U.<S
governmen 997 997 — —
Federal agency notes a
bonds 61 61 — —
Commercial pape 1,04¢ 1,04¢ — —
Corporate notes and bon 1,84: 1,84: — —
Auction and variable floatin
rate note: 941 — — 941
Total $ 12,237 % 11,29¢ $ — 3 941

The following tables summarize the Compaagsets measured at fair value on a recurring bagiresented in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets at January 1, 201Jaamdhry 2, 2010:

Fair Value Measurements at January 1, 2011 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 1, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 12,65¢ $ 12,65 $ — $ —
Shor-term marketable securiti 824 — 824 —
Long-term marketable securiti 89C — — 89C
Total assets measured at 1
value $ 14,36¢ $ 12,65¢ $ 824 $ 89C
Fair Value Measurements at January 2, 2010 Usin
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 2, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 7,341 $ 7,347 $ — 3 —
Shor-term marketable securitis 3,94¢ 3,94¢ — —
Long-term marketable securitis 941 — — 941
Total assets measured at fait
value $ 12,237 % 11,29¢ $ — 3 941

As of January 3, 2010, the Company rediaskits investments in commercial paper and cafonotes and bonds, with a fair value of
$2.9 million, from assets measured at fair valuagikevel 1 inputs to assets measured at fair vasiieg Level 2 inputs. The transfer resulted
solely from management's reassessment of the déaetivity in the secondary market for these irtremnts, which historically has been low
due to the short-term nature of the instrumentsmdgament does not believe that the reassessmany iway reflects a change in the actual
liguidity or credit quality of these investmenthélreassessment was precipitated by a changetwd@lsnstitutions in connection with the
Company's new revolving credit agreement (see Bpte
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Note 4—Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

Fair value measurements using Level 3 sputhe table above relate to the Company's invessts in auction rate securities. The
disruptions in the credit market continue to adeiraffect the liquidity and overall market for dion rate securities. The Company has
estimated the fair value of these investments usidgcounted cash flow model which included asgiong about the credit quality and
expected duration of the investments, along wiitalint rates affected for the general lack of dgui These assumptions reflect the
Company's estimates about the reasonable assumptianket participants would likely use in valuihg investments, including assumptions
about risk, developed based on the best informati@ilable in the circumstances.

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the beginning and ending balances for the i2om's assets measured at fair value using
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Beginning balanc $ 941 $ 96C
Unrealized loss included in accumulat

other comprehensive lo (50) (29
Accrued interes 2 —
Ending balanc $ 88¢ $ 941

Note 5—Investments in Marketable Securities
Investments in marketable securities comgithe following at January 1, 2011 and JanuargQ40 (in thousands):

January 1, 2011

Amortized Unrglaeltized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Corporate notes and bon $ 824 $ — $ 824
Auction and variable floatin
rate note: 1,001 (111) 89C

$ 182% $ (117) $ 1,71¢

January 2, 201C
Net

Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Obligations of the Unite
States governmel $ 997 $ — $ 997
Federal agency notes a
bonds 61 — 61
Commercial pape 1,04¢ — 1,04¢
Corporate notes and bon 1,83¢ 4 1,84:
Auction and variable floatin
rate note: 1,002 (62) 941
$ 4947 $ (57) $ 4,89(
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Realized gains and losses on the saleveSiments in marketable securities are determisgdyuhe specific identification method. There
were no sales of available-for-sale securitiesrgaanaturity in 2010. Proceeds from the sale dlilable-for-sale securities totaled $1.0 million
for the year ended January 2, 2010. Net realizétsgacorded during the years ended January 1, 20d January 2, 2010 were not significi

The following table provides the breakdosfrinvestments in marketable securities with unzeal losses at January 1, 2011 and
January 2, 2010 (in thousands):

January 1, 2011
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 month: 12 months or greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Auction and variable floating rate nof $ — $ — $ 89C $ (111

January 2, 201C
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Corporate notes and bon $ 366 $ @»m\ s$ — 3 —
Auction and variable floating rate not — — 941 (62)
$ 366 $ 1) $ 941 $ (61)

As of January 1, 2011 and January 2, 200Company held two and four investments, respelgtithat were in an unrealized loss
position.

Auction Rate Securities

Disruptions in the credit market continaeativersely affect the liquidity and overall marf@tauction rate securities. As of January 1,
2011 and January 2, 2010, the Company held twastments in auction rate securities with a totathased cost of $1.0 million. These two
investments represent (i) a Baal rated, fully iedudebt obligation of a municipality and (ii) an A8ed debt obligation backed by pools of
student loans guaranteed by the U.S. Departmeidotation.

The Company does not believe that the atifigquidity of its investments in auction ratecurities will materially impact its ability to
fund its working capital needs, capital expendsuse other business requirements. The Company, \@weemains uncertain as to when
liquidity will return to the auction rate marketghether other secondary markets will become avigilabwhen the underlying securities may
be called by the issuer. Given these and otherrtaiotes, the Company's investments in auctioa saturities have been classified as long-
term investments in marketable securities in tlromapanying consolidated balance sheets. The Contasigoncluded that the estimated
gross unrealized losses on these investments, witaled approximately $111,000 and $61,000 ataini, 2011 and January 2, 2010,
respectively, are temporary because (i) the Company
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believes that the absence of liquidity that hasioed is due to general market conditions, (ii) alietion rate securities continue to be of a high
credit quality and interest is paid as due anjitfie Company has the intent and ability to hoksthinvestments until a recovery in the market
occurs.

Other Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company maintains an investment paatfol various holdings, types and maturities. Theempany invests in instruments that meet
high quality credit standards, as specified inrit@stment policy guidelines. These guidelines galhelimit the amount of credit exposure to
any one issue, issuer or type of instrument. Exotyds auction rate securities, the gross unredlipsses on the Company's other investments
in marketable securities totaled approximately $@,8nd gross unrealized gains totaled approxim&=§00 as of January 2, 2010. There\
no gross unrealized gains or losses at Janua@11,. I he fair value of the Company's investmentaamketable securities could change
significantly in the future and the Company mayé&guired to record other-than-temporary impairnmararges or additional unrealized losses
in future periods.

The following tables present the amortizedt and fair value of the Company's investmentaanketable securities classified as available-
for-sale at January 1, 2011 and January 2, 20k®bfractual maturity (in thousands):

January 1, 2011

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Less than one yei $ 824 $ 824
Greater than two year: 1,001 89C
$ 1,828 $ 1,71«
January 2, 201C
Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Less than one yei $ 3,94t $ 3,94¢
Greater than two year: 1,00z 941
$ 4947 $ 4,89(
* Comprised of auction rate securities which gengtave interest rate reset dates of 90 days oblgstnal

contractual maturity dates in excess of 15 ye
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On October 31, 2009, the Company enteredarcredit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank, ehhivas amended on March 24, 2010,
June 30, 2010 and September 30, 2010. Currenéyridit agreement provides that the Company cemowaip to the lesser of (i) 80% of
eligible accounts receivable, or (ii) $10.0 milliothe Company has the option to increase creditadbitty to $15.0 million at any time throu
the maturity date of September 30, 2012, subjetitéaonditions of the credit agreement.

The credit agreement contains an overdlisit of $10.0 million to collateralize the Compgas contingent obligations under letters of
credit, foreign exchange contracts and cash managieservices. Amounts outstanding under the oveudllimit reduce the amount available
pursuant to the credit agreement. At January 1] 2@tters of credit in the amount of $2.9 millimere outstanding. The letters of credit expire
on various dates through October 31, 2011.

Interest on the line of credit is payablenthly at either (i) prime (4.00% at January 1, P0dlus 1.25%, as long as the Company
maintains $8.5 million in revolving credit availéity plus unrestricted cash on deposit with thelba (ii) prime plus 2.25%. Additionally, the
credit agreement requires payments for an unuseddis well as anniversary and early terminaties,fas applicable.

In connection with the September 30, 20b@rdment, Silicon Valley Bank extended a $1.5 onillierm loan, which bears interest at a
rate of prime plus 1.75%. The Company is requicechéike equal monthly principal payments which t&@b million annually, and a balloon
payment of $0.5 at maturity. Any remaining unpaih@ipal is due upon maturity of the credit agream@he term loan is classified as long-
term debt in the accompanying consolidated balaheet (see Note 7).

The Company's previous credit facility, ethiconsisted of a revolving line of credit and a-mevolving equipment line, expired on
August 31, 2009 and all borrowings were repaichtoliank. Interest on the credit facility was pagahbnthly at the greatest of (i) the sum of
the prime rate plus 3%, (ii) the sum of LIBOR p&# or (iii) 8%.

The following table presents details o€nefst expense related to borrowings on the linesedfit, along with certain other applicable
information (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Interest expens $ 39 ¢ 53
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Outstanding borrowings on the revolvi
lines of credi $ — $ =
Borrowing availability under revolving
lines of credit $ 2,200 $ —

Obligations under the credit agreementarired by a first priority lien on the Compangisdible and intangible assets. Silicon Valley
Bank released Netlist Technology Texas, LP as #igmbunder the credit agreement due to the disgwlwf this subsidiary in October 2010.
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The credit agreement subjects the Compauegttain affirmative and negative covenants, iditlg financial covenants with respect to the
Company's liquidity and tangible net worth, andnieBons on the payment of dividends. As of Jagugr2011, the Company was in
compliance with its financial covenants.

Note 7—Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following {housands):

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Obligations under capital leases (:
Note 9) $ 36z $ 15¢
Note payable to bank (see Note 1,37¢ —
1,73 15¢
Less current portio (674) (10¢)

$ 1,06 $ 51

The Company has purchased manufacturingamgbuter equipment through the use of varioustablgiases that mature at various dates
through July 2013 (see Note 9). The interest ratethese leases vary between 6.0% and 8.3%.

As of January 1, 2011, maturities of lorgat debt were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2011 $ 674
2012 99t
2013 68

Interest expense related to the Compaag®-term debt is presented in the following talettijousands):

Year Ended

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Interest expens $ 56 $ 27
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagyimounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for incampurposes. Significant components of the Comigaiisferred tax assets and liabilities
are as follows (in thousands):

January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Deferred tax asset

Reserves and allowanc $ 1842 $ 241¢

State taxes, net of federal income
benefit 1 1
Depreciation and amortizatic 37E 23C
Other accrual 31¢€ 31¢
Compensatory stock options and rig 1,94¢ 1,68¢
Other 48 72
Tax credit carryforward 1,29¢ 99:<
Operating loss carryforwal 11,51 6,48¢
Foreign operating loss carryforwe 87¢ 77
Total deferred tax asse 18,22( 12,28:

Deferred tax liabilities

Prepaid expenst (203) (169)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (203) (169)
Subtotal 18,017 12,11
Valuation allowanct (18,01 (12,119
$ — $ =

The Company evaluates whether a valuaflomance should be established against its defdemedssets based on the consideration
available evidence using a "more likely than naéthglard. In making such judgments, significant \ueig given to evidence that can be
objectively verified. As of January 1, 2011 anduky 2, 2010, a valuation allowance of $18.0 milland $12.1 million, respectively, has b
provided based on the Company's assessment thamdre likely than not, that sufficient taxable@me will not be generated to realize the tax
benefits of the temporary differences. The valumtibowance increased by approximately $5.9 milbkma $4.2 million during the years ended
January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010, respectipeiyarily related to the increase in the net opegaloss carryforward.

At January 1, 2011, the Company has appratély $29.7 million of federal net operating I¢48OL") carryforwards which begin to
expire in year 2029, and approximately $22.0 milla# state net operating loss carryforwards whiegib to expire in year 2017, and Federal
and state tax credit carryforwards of approximag€lyé million and $0.7 million, respectively at dany 1, 2011. Federal tax credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and statectaxlits carry forward indefinitely. In additiotnet Company has approximately $6.4 million
of operating loss carryforwards in the PRC thatilég expire in 2012.
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The deferred tax asset at January 1, 26&% dot include approximately $0.7 million and $®iflion of excess tax benefits from
employee stock option exercises that are a compafehe federal and state net operating loss oaaw; respectively. The Company's
stockholders' equity balance will be increasedd when such excess tax benefits are ultimatelizezh

For financial reporting purposes, loss betzenefit of income taxes includes the followimgnponents (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
United State: $ (13,827 $ (11,089
Foreign (2,0072) (2,247

$ (15,829 $ (13,329

The Company's income tax benefit consisthefollowing (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Current:
Federal $ (7260 $ (449
State 14 31
Total current (714) (412)
Deferred:
Federal (4,209 (3,54¢€)
State (8949 (607)
Foreign (801 (38
Change in valuation allowan: 5,904 4,191
Total deferrec — —
Income tax benef $ (719 $ (412

During 2010, the Company carried back apipnately $1.7 million of gross net operating lossesler the Worker, Homeownership, and
Business Act and received a federal income taxagetf approximately $0.7 million. During 2009, tBempany reduced its unrecognized tax
benefits by approximately $0.5 million as a resdila lapse in a federal statute of limitations.
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A reconciliation of income taxes computsgdaipplying the statutory U.S. income tax rate ® @ompany's loss before income taxes to the
income tax benefit is as follows:

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
U.S. federal statutory te 35% 35%
Valuation allowanct (26) (28)
Loss from foreign subsidiat 4 (6)
Unrecognized tax liability adjustme — 4
Other, ne — 2
Effective income tax benefit ra 5% 3%

Unrecognized Tax Benefits
The following table summarizes the activityated to the Company's unrecognized tax ben@ifithousands):

Balance at January 3, 20 $ 568
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute of

limitations (49€)
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdirax

benefits 10

Balance at January 2, 20 77
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute of

limitations —
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogditax

benefits —

Balance at January 1, 20 77

&

Included in the unrecognized tax benefitdamuary 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010 was appréadyr0.1 million and $0.1 million,
respectively, of tax positions that, if recognizeuld affect the Company's annual effective tar.ra

The Company recognizes accrued interespandlties related to unrecognized tax benefits @mponent of tax expense. The Company
had approximately $2,000 accrued for interest @hdckrued for penalties at both January 1, 2011Jandary 2, 2010.

The Company files tax returns with fedesthte and foreign jurisdictions. The Company idamger subject to IRS or state examinations
prior to 2006 although certain carryforward atttémithat were generated prior to 2006 may stidjested by the IRS.

Tax Holidays
In 2008, the Company began operating utadeholidays in the PRC, which are effective framnuary 2008 through December 2012.
Since the Company operated at a loss in the PRO10A and 2009, it did not realize any benefit $ccitnsolidated results of operations
attributable to the tax holidays.
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Leases

The Company leases certain of its fac#itd@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingdeasat expire at various dates through 2015.
Rental expense, net of amortization of deferred gad sublease income, is presented in the follpwéble (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Rental expens $ 89t $ 85C

The Company also has acquired certain egesip through the use of various capital leases.

In December 2005, the Company sold thedingl containing its manufacturing facility and tte¢ated land in Irvine, California to an
unrelated third party for gross proceeds of appnatély $1.9 million. Concurrent with the sale, ®empany entered into an agreement to |
the property back at an initial monthly rent of ¥I@D, subject to annual rent increases of 3% thrdegse expiration in November 2010. The
Company accounted for the lease as an operatisg.l&aconnection with the sale, the Company reizegna gain of approximately
$0.6 million which was deferred and amortized imwome ratably over the lease-back term. Duringydars ended January 1, 2011 and
January 2, 2010, the Company amortized approxim&t08,000 and $118,000, respectively, of the gdiith is recorded as a reduction of
rent expense in the accompanying consolidatednseatts of operations.

A summary of future minimum payments unoleth capital and operating lease commitments dsfiary 1, 2011 is as follows (in
thousands):

Capital Operating

Fiscal Year Leases Leases
2011 $ 19 $ 49¢
2012 12¢ 43
2013 69 8
2014 — 8
2015 — 7
Total minimum lease paymer 39C $ 564
Less amount representing inter (28)
Present value of future minimum lez

payments (see Note $ 36z

Patent Claims

In May 2008, the Company initiated discaesiwith Google, Inc. ("Google") regarding the Camy's claim that Google has infringed on
a U.S. patent owned by the Company, U.S. Paten?7/289,386 ("the '386 patent”), which relates gaiheto rank multiplication in memory
modules. On August 29, 2008, Google filed a dettaygudgment lawsuit against the Company in th8.WDistrict Court for the Northern
District of California, seeking a declaration tk&togle did not

F-28




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 1, 2011
Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

infringe the '386 patent and that the '386 pateimvalid. Google is not seeking any monetary daasa@®n November 18, 2008, the Company
filed a counterclaim for infringement of the '38&t@nt by Google. Claim construction proceedingseviedd on November 14, 2009, and the
Company prevailed on every disputed claim congtradssue. On June 1, 2010, the Company filed aandbr summary judgment of patent
infringement and a motion for summary judgmentigrdss Google's affirmative defenses based on dtisthctivities in the JEDEC standard-
setting organization. The hearings for these metlwawe been postponed indefinitely by the CourtS8ptember 1, 2010, the United States
Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTQO") granted Ge'sgkquest for reexamination of the '386 patentS&ptember 14, 2010, the Court
granted Google's request to stay the litigatiordpenthe conclusion of the reexamination by the TSPOn October 20, 2010, Smart
Modular, Inc. ("SMOD") filed a request for reexamiion of the '386 patent with the USPTO. In Jan&{1, the USPTO granted SMOD's
request for reexamination.

On December 4, 2009, the Company filedtarganfringement lawsuit against Google in the WD&trict Court for the Northern District
of California, seeking damages and injunctive fdleesed on Google's infringement of U.S. Patent™N@19,912 ("the '912 patent"), which
issued in November 2009 and is related to the (28ént. On February 11, 2010, Google answered ¢inep@ny's complaint and asserted
counterclaims against the Company seeking a deéicarat the patent is invalid and not infringadd claiming that the Company committed
fraud, negligent misrepresentation and breach ofraot based on Netlist's activities in the JEDEDdard-setting organization. The
counterclaim seeks unspecified compensatory dam@ge®©ctober 20 and October 21, respectively, SMDD Google each filed requests for
reexamination of the '912 patent, which were eaahtgd in January 2011. On January 26, 2011, thet@ocanted the parties' joint request to
stay the patent infringement lawsuit against Googl the completion of the reexamination proceegsdi

On September 22, 2009, the Company filpdtant infringement lawsuit against Inphi Corparat{"Inphi) in the U.S. District Court for
the Central District of California. The suit allegghat Inphi is contributorily infringing and actly inducing the infringement of a U.S. patent
owned by the Company, U.S. Patent No. 7,532,53i& (837 patent"), which relates generally to memmoglules with load isolation and
memory domain translation capabilities. The Compiarseeking damages and injunctive relief basebhphi's use of its patented technology.
On December 22, 2009, the Company filed an Amei@tadplaint asserting claims of patent infringemeaddnl on two additional patents, the
'912 patent and U.S. Patent No. 7,636,274 ("th& (fafent"), which relate generally to load isolatemd memory domain translation
technologies, as well as rank multiplication. Inphs denied infringement and has asserted thattteats-in-suit are invalid. On April 19,
2010, Inphi filed requests for reexamination of thieee patents-in-suit, and on April 21, 2010, linfjad an interference proceeding on the
three patents-in-suit with the USPTO. Inphi thdedia motion to stay the lawsuit, which was gramedviay 18, 2010. On September 1, 2010,
the USPTO confirmed the patentability of all fifoyre claims of the '912 patent. The Company intémdsgorously pursue its infringement
claims against Inphi and to continue to vigorowddyend its patent rights in the USPTO.

On November 30, 2009, Inphi filed a paiefiingement lawsuit against the Company in the.UDBtrict Court for the Central District of
California alleging infringement of two Inphi patsrgenerally related to memory module output bsffBiscovery is currently underway, and
the Company intends to vigorously defend againstila claims of infringement.
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On March 24, 2010, Ring Technologies Eniees filed a patent infringement lawsuit in the&SUDistrict Court for the Eastern District of
Texas against Dell and its suppliers. The suigalethat the Company and forty-two (42) other dédderts infringed on its U.S. Patent
No. 6,879,526. The Company filed its answer to Rieghnologies' complaint and intends to vigorowsfend against Ring Technologi
claims of infringement.

Commitment to Purchase Component Inventory

In September, 2010, the Company enteredar#i2.5 million commitment to purchase ASIC desifte use in certain of its high-
performance memory modules that are in the evangtiocess with OEM and end-user customers. Aarodary 1, 2011, the Company had
received ASIC devices valued at $0.3 million, aschained obligated to purchase $2.2 million, forehithe Company had prepaid $0.7 mill
toward future receipt of chipsets. The prepaymeimiéluded in prepaid expenses and other currasetsm the accompanying consolidated
balance sheet. Additionally, the Company providezdendor a $1.1 million letter of credit to secpagment for future shipments (see Note

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, tlen@any has made certain indemnities, commitmerdggaarantees under which it may be
required to make payments in relation to certangactions. These include (i) intellectual propertiemnities to the Company's customers and
licensees in connection with the use, sales atidense of Company products; (ii) indemnities toders and service providers pertaining to
claims based on the Company's negligence or wittfigiconduct; (iii) indemnities involving the accayeof representations and warranties in
certain contracts; (iv) indemnities to directorsl afficers of the Company to the maximum extentipged under the laws of the State of
Delaware; and (v) certain real estate leases, umbigh the Company may be required to indemnifypprty owners for environmental and
other liabilities, and other claims arising frone tBompany's use of the applicable premises. Thatidarof these indemnities, commitments
and guarantees varies and, in certain cases, magléknite. The majority of these indemnities, goitments and guarantees do not provide
any limitation of the maximum potential for futysayments the Company could be obligated to makstokically, the Company has not been
obligated to make significant payments for thedegations, and no liabilities have been recordedliese indemnities, commitments and
guarantees in the accompanying consolidated bakirests.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

The Company's authorized capital includ&©00,000 shares of Serial Preferred Stock, wighravalue of $0.001 per share. No shares
were outstanding at January 1, 2011 or Januar@).2

Common Stock

On March 24, 2010, the Company sold 4,582 ghares of common stock in a registered pubferiofy. The shares were sold to the pu
at a price of $3.85 per share. The Company receaieéd
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proceeds of $16.2 million, after underwriting disots and commissions, and estimated expenses pdygalihe Company.

During 2010, the Company cancelled 16,328es of common stock valued at approximately $M®i0 connection with its obligation to
holders of restricted stock to withhold the numbkshares required to satisfy the holders' taxlltgs in connection with the vesting of such
shares.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based compensatiardawutstanding pursuant to the Amended and Res200 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"2000 Plan") and the Amended and Restated 200&\Ebgentive Plan (the "2006 Plan"), under whicheaiety of option and direct stock-
based awards may be granted to employees and ntmerep of the Company. Further grants under th® Z@n were suspended upon the
adoption of the 2006 Plan. In addition to awardslenaursuant to the 2006 Plan, the Company perithgisaues inducement grants outside the
2006 Plan to certain new hires.

Subject to certain adjustments, as of Jynlia2011, the Company was authorized to issuexdmum of 4,205,566 shares of common
stock pursuant to awards under the 2006 Plan. maatmum number will automatically increase on tingt fday of each subsequent calendar
year by the lesser of (i) 5.0% of the number ofed@f common stock that are issued and outstaradirtg the first day of the calendar ye
and (ii) 1,200,000 shares of common stock, subgeatijustment for certain corporate actions. Audan 1, 2011, the Company had 1,394,906
shares available for grant under the 2006 PladaAtiary 1, 2011, an additional 201,875 shares sesezved for issuance upon exercise of
inducement grants. Options granted under the 2089 Ehe 2006 Plan and outside the equity incenglaas primarily vest at a rate of at least
25% per year over four years and expire 10 years the date of grant. Restricted stock awardsinesght equal increments at intervals of
approximately six months from the date of grant.
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A summary of the Company's common stockoopctivity is presented below (shares in thousgnd

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Life Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in thousands)

Options outstandir—January 3, 200 4281 $ 2.64

Options grante: 77¢ 0.72

Options exercise (25€) 1.82

Options cancelle (50€) 1.9¢
Options outstandir—January 2, 201 4,29¢ 2.41

Options grante: 86¢ 3.12

Options exercise (84 0.9¢

Options cancelle (44¢) 2.4¢
Options outstandir—January 1, 201 463¢ $ 257 57 $ 4,724
Options exercisab—January 1, 201 3321 $ 2.8¢ 46 $ 3,42¢
Options exercisable and expectet

ves—January 1, 201 4,491 $  2.5¢ 56 $ 4,60(
Options available for grant under the 2(
Plan at January 1, 20: 1,39¢

The following table summarizes informatayout stock options outstanding and exercisablaratary 1, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of Contractual Average
shares Life Exercise shares Life Exercise
Exercise Price Range (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) (in years) Price
$0.20- $0.36 1,66% 42 $ 0.2t 1,24 28 $ 0.2t
$0.57- $1.95 71C 6.6 $ 1.52 464 6.1 $ 1.57
$2.05- $2.98 932 70 $ 24t 547 54 $ 24Z
$3.04- $3.90 24¢€ 83 $ 3.1¢ 90 64 $ 3.2
$5.00- $8.45 1,08( 59 $ 6.7¢ 97¢ 56 $ 6.9¢
4,634 57 $ 257 3,321 4€ $ 2.8¢
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A summary of the Company's restricted stmwokrds is presented below (shares in thousands):

Restricted Stock
Outstanding

Weighted-

Average

Grant-Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares per Share
Balance outstanding at January 2, 2 — 3 —
Restricted stock grante 52¢ 3.4¢€
Restricted stock veste (67) 3.4k
Restricted stock forfeite (35 3.4t
Balance outstanding at January 1, 2 42€ $ 3.4¢€

The following table presents details of #ssumptions used to calculate the weighted-aveyage date fair value of common stock
options granted by the Company:

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010

Expected term (in year 5.6 5.2
Expected volatility 14%% 114%
Risk-free interest rat 1.95% 2.92%
Expected dividend — —
Weightec-average grant date fair val

per share $ 284 % 0.7:
Intrinsic value of options exercised |

thousands $ 25¢ $  1,12¢

The weighted-average fair value per shatberestricted stock granted in the year endedary 1, 2011 was calculated based on the fair
market value of the Company's common stock onebpective grant dates.

At January 1, 2011, the amount of uneastedk-based compensation currently estimated expensed from 2011 through 2014 related
to unvested common stock options and restricteckstwvards is approximately $2.8 million, net ofimstted forfeitures. The weighted-average
period over which the unearned stdmksed compensation is expected to be recognizggbreximately 3.0 years. If there are any modifora
or cancellations of the underlying unvested awatttss Company may be required to accelerate, inereasancel any remaining unearned
stock-based compensation expense or calculatecgnddradditional expense. Future stock-based cosagien expense and unearned stock-
based compensation will increase to the extentttlle€ompany grants additional common stock opt@raher stock-based awards.
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Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purcttaaes of its common stock to certain non-empleyeeservices rendered or to be rendered
in the future. Such warrants are issued outside@P000 Plan and 2006 Plan. A summary of the wagetivity is presented below:

Weighted-
Number of Average
Shares Exercise
(in thousands) Price

Warrants outstandi—January 3

2009 18 $ 1.2t
Warrants grante — —
Warrants exercise — —
Warrants cancelle — —

Warrants outstanding—January 2,

2010 18 1.2
Warrants grante — —
Warrants exercise (18) 1.2t

Warrants cancelle — —

Warrants outstanding—January 1,
2011 — $ —

Warrants outstanding at January 2, 201@ wkssified as equity. Upon the exercise of wastahe Company issued new shares from its
authorized shares.

Note 11—401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined dnriton plan. Employees are eligible to participmt¢his plan provided they are employed
full-time and have reached 21 years of age. Ppditts may make pre-tax contributions to the pldojesiti to a statutorily prescribed annual
limit. Each participant is fully vested in his cerhcontributions and investment earnings. The Caomwyppaay make matching contributions on
contributions of a participant on a discretionaagils. No contributions have been made in the yesaded January 1, 2011 or January 2, 2010.

Note 12—Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company's product sales have histdyibalen concentrated in a small number of custoniérs following table sets forth sales to
customers comprising 10% or more of the Comparst'sales as follows:

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Customer A 59% 53%
Customer E 19% *
Customer C * 13%
* less than 10% of net sales
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Raid controller subsystem revenues reptedesd% and 40% of net sales in 2010 and 2009¢ctisply.

The Company's accounts receivable primarnéyconcentrated with two customers at Janua2@11, representing approximately 75%
13%; and two customers at January 2, 2010, repiiegeapproximately 68% and 10% of aggregate gressivables. A significant reduction in
sales to, or the inability to collect receivablesti, a significant customer could have a matedskase impact on the Company.

The Company's purchases have historicagnlzoncentrated in a small number of suppliers.fétiowing table sets forth purchases from
suppliers comprising 10% or more of the Comparota purchases as follows:

Year Ended
January 1, January 2,
2011 2010
Supplier A 11% *
Supplier B 1% *
Supplier C 1% *
* less than 10% of total purchases

While the Company believes alternative $ieppcould be utilized, any inability to obtainmaponents or products in the amounts needed
on a timely basis or at commercially reasonablegsricould result in delays in product introductiangerruption in product shipments or
increases in product costs, which could have anmaatelverse effect on the Company.

Note 13—Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportable sagrthe design and manufacture of high-performanemory subsystems for the server,
high-performance computing and communications markéhe Company evaluates financial performance oompany-wide basis.

To date, a majority of the Company's in&ional sales relate to shipments of productssttJi. customers' international manufacturing
sites or third- party hubs. Net sales derived fadnipments to international destinations, primatdlyAsia (including foreign subsidiaries of
customers that are headquartered in the U.S.esepted approximately 70% of the Company's nes $alleoth 2010 and 2009. All of the
Company's net sales to date have been denomimate®i dollars.

As of January 1, 2011 and January 2, 28ffroximately $2.3 million and $3.0 million of tR®mpany's long-lived assets, net of
depreciation and amortization, respectively, wermated outside the U.S., primarily in the PRC. Saiglly all other long-lived assets were
located in the U.S.

Note 14—Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluatedgthtbe date that the consolidated financial statésneere issued. There are no reportable
subsequent events.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Each of the following is a wholly ownedetit subsidiary of Netlist, Inc.:

Entity Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Netlist Electronics
(Suzhou) Co., Lt People's Republic of Chi

Netlist HK Limited Hong Kong

EXHIBIT 21.1
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincReqgistration Statements Nos. 333-139435, 3#3-41, 333-151644, 333-161832, 333-
161834, 333-163991, 333-164261, 333-165443, 333165nd 333-168330 on Form S-8 and 333-16429@wh FS-3 of our report dated
March 3, 2011, relating to the consolidated finahstatements of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiariepeaping in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
of Netlist, Inc. for the year ended January 1, 2011

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 3, 2011
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Chun K. Hong, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1,126f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsinot contain any untrue statement of a matigalor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisletding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information inelthéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andffie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyin§agfr and | are responsible for establishing anéhta@ing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlsmndedures, or caused such disclosure controlpantedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgeibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control owearficial reporting, or caused such internal corgr@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegettierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of tlgiRrant's disclosure controls and proceduregagsknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie Registrant's internal control over financggdorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent quarter (the Registrémiish quarter in the case of an annual report) ha materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regsitt's internal control over financial reportinggdan

5. The Registrant's other certifyin§jagfr and | have disclosed, based on our most temaiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétadnmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{orspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and mdééweaknesses in the design or operation of iralecontrol over financial reporting whis
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regt's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Registral
internal control over financial reporting.

March 3, 2011 /sl CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmarthefBoard
(Principal Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gail Sasaki, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1,126f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsinot contain any untrue statement of a matigalor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisletding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information inelthéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andffie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyin§agfr and | are responsible for establishing anéhta@ing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlsmndedures, or caused such disclosure controlpantedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgeibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control owearficial reporting, or caused such internal corgr@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegettierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of tlgiRrant's disclosure controls and proceduregagsknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie Registrant's internal control over financggdorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent quarter (the Registrémiish quarter in the case of an annual report) ha materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regsitt's internal control over financial reportinggdan

5. The Registrant's other certifyin§jagfr and | have disclosed, based on our most temaiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétadnmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{orspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and mdééweaknesses in the design or operation of iralecontrol over financial reporting whis
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regt's ability to record, process, summarize aport financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Registral
internal control over financial reporting.

March 3, 2011 Is/ GAIL SASAKI

Gail Sasaki
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




QuickLinks

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002



QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this domnt

Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onriRdk0-K of Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation €tst") for the fiscal year ended January 1,
2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on March 3, 2011 (the "Report"), Chun Kngppresident, chief executive officer
and chairman of the board of Netlist, and Gail 8aséce president and chief financial officer oétlist, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Segiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, sodriher knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with thejudrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Reegairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations

of Netlist.
March 3, 2011 /sl CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairma
the Board (Principal Executive Office
March 3, 2011 I/s/ GAIL SASAKI

Gail Sasaki
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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